The Intersection of Trade
Policy, Climate Action, Climate
Technology, and the Right to
Development in a Shifting
Geopolitical Landscape

VICENTE PAOLO B. YU III



The Intersection of Trade Policy, Climate Action, Climate Technology, and the Right to Development in a Shifting Geopolitical Landscape

VICENTE PAOLO B. YU III



The Intersection of Trade Policy, Climate Action, Climate Technology, and the Right to Development in a Shifting Geopolitical Landscape

Published in 2025 by
Third World Network Bhd (198701004592 (163262-P))
131 Jalan Macalister
10400 Penang
Malaysia
www.twn.my

The contents of this publication may be republished or reused for free for non-commercial purposes, except where otherwise noted. This publication is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Interrelated Polycrisis of Income Inequality, Environmental Degradation, and Social Inequity	3
3.	Historical and Present-Day Causes of Systemic Inequity in	11
	International Trade and Climate Policy Regimes	
	A. Systemic Inequity in Global Climate Governance	14
	B. Systemic Inequity in the International Trade System	16
	C. Systemic Inequity in Climate Technologies	19
	D. Systemic Inequity in Capital Ownership and Its Impact on	24
	Investment, Trade, and Patent Ownership in Climate Technologies	
4.	Geopolitics, Trade, Climate Policy, and Sustainable Development: Intersections in a Multipolar World	30
5.	International Cooperation as the Vehicle for Addressing Systemic Inequity	32
6.	The Need for Collective Action Among Developing Countries to Address Systemic Inequity	34
7.	Conclusion	38
En	dnotes	42

Introduction

IN 1930, the Italian political scientist Antonio Gramsci wrote, "*Il vecchio mondo sta morendo. Quello nuovo tarda a comparire. E in questo chiaroscuro nascono i mostri.*" Writing when he was in prison in Benito Mussolini's Fascist Italy, he sought to describe the socio-economic and political turmoil and power shifts that were taking place in the country following World War I and the Great Depression, particularly the "crisis of authority" that eventually led to the rise of fascism.

Although written almost a century ago, his words seem apt when applied to today's global context: a major superpower is now in the throes of domestic socio-economic and political turmoil that have global geopolitical implications as it seeks to reassert its dominance globally;² heretofore significant economic powers in Europe are going through national economic and political turbulence diminishing their global clout; and countries in Eurasia, Asia, the Middle East, Africa, and Latin America are increasingly becoming more confident in seeking to chart their own national courses and destinies without being geopolitical pawns and whose combined economic strength now constitutes more of the world's productive capacity compared with the Global North. The "rules" that underpinned the global economic and political order dominated by the Global North since the end of World War II and the Cold War, including those promoted by organizations such as the World Trade Organization (WTO) and the Bretton Woods institutions (BWIs) - the World Bank (WB) and the International Monetary Fund (IMF) - are now being discarded or disregarded by the very countries that had been their architects and prime promoters.

In addition, the contemporary global landscape is marked by pressing and worsening environmental challenges, including climate change, deforestation, biodiversity loss, water scarcity, and pollution. These challenges are deeply rooted in historical and systemic inequities between developed and developing countries. They are driven by unsustainable production and consumption patterns, often concentrated in developed countries, while their consequences disproportionately affect developing countries. The causes and effects of environmental degradation are not distributed evenly across the globe, and they reveal deeper systemic inequities embedded in global economic, political, and environmental systems. Understanding these inequities is essential to creating just and sustainable solutions.

For developing countries, understanding these trends, their causes, and their multifaceted impacts is essential for formulating effective response strategies to collaborate and address these issues collectively.

While the global economic, environmental, and social challenges are distinct in their domains, they are interlinked through shared underlying systemic factors such as globalization, technological advancements, and socioeconomic inequalities. With less than six years left in which to fully achieve the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) under the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, these challenges that the global community is facing remain daunting.

Interrelated Polycrisis of Income Inequity, Environmental Degradation, and Social Inequity

THE key economic challenge remains systemic inequity, which has manifested itself in the continued presence of a significant development gap between developed and developing countries and the rich and poor in their populations.

Having roots in historical colonialism, income inequality has become a pressing global economic issue, with wealth increasingly concentrated in the hands of a few.³ According to the *World Inequality Report*, the top 1% of the global population owns more than half of the world's wealth, while the bottom 50% owns less than 2%.⁴ This disparity is widening, with the richest 1% holding an increasing share of global wealth, and not only leads to reduced economic mobility and social tensions, but also undermines economic growth by limiting the purchasing power of large segments of the global and national populations. This disparity is evident in both developed and developing countries and has been exacerbated by factors such as globalization, technology, and policies that favour capital over labour. Furthermore, in many countries, a cost-of-living crisis has arisen, with escalating prices for essential goods and services straining households and exacerbating inequality.⁵ Additionally, fragile financial systems, market volatility, and debt burdens pose risks to global economic stability.⁶

The international trade system reflects deep-seated systemic inequities between developed and developing countries. These inequities are rooted in historical power imbalances arising from colonialism, structural barriers, and institutional biases that continue to shape global trade rules and outcomes. While globalization has increased overall trade volumes and interconnectedness, the benefits of trade remain unevenly distributed, disproportionately favouring wealthier countries.

Global trade plays a dual role – acting both as a driver of economic development and as a vector of environmental harm. For example, a significant proportion of global greenhouse gas emissions is embodied in traded goods. Developed countries have often outsourced pollution-intensive (with respect to both greenhouse gases and other pollutants) production to developing countries, while importing the finished goods. This not only shifts environmental burdens to the Global South but also obscures the true carbon footprint of consumption in the North. International trade accounts for an estimated 20–30% of annual greenhouse gas emissions, highlighting its substantial role in climate change.⁷

In terms of policy approaches, systemic inequity is reflected in the greater ability of developed countries to impose unilateral measures against developing countries. Policies like the European Union (EU)'s Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism (CBAM), while environmentally motivated, may inadvertently penalize developing countries that lack the infrastructure or financial capacity to comply. Such measures are then viewed by developing countries as potential trade barriers that could hinder their economic growth. Further, many trade agreements continue to reflect asymmetries in bargaining power. Intellectual property rules, agricultural subsidies, and investor-state dispute mechanisms often work in favour of multinational corporations and developed countries, limiting the policy space of developing countries.

In the environmental sphere, the past century has seen rapid environmental decline across several fronts. Climate change is accelerating due to the buildup of greenhouse gases from burning fossil fuels. Forests, particularly in the Global South, are being cleared at alarming rates for agriculture, mining, and logging (old growth forests in the Global North were depleted much earlier). Freshwater sources are drying up or becoming polluted, and marine ecosystems are under pressure from overfishing, plastic waste, and ocean acidification. Biodiversity is declining at an unprecedented rate, with species extinction in some cases occurring up to 1,000 times the natural background rate.¹⁰

Anthropogenic climate change is arguably the most critical environmental challenge of our time. Greenhouse gas concentrations have reached record highs, leading to significant global warming. Despite international agreements

like the Paris Agreement, global emissions continue to increase. Industrial activities, deforestation, transportation, and energy production remain the primary sources. The world is currently on track to surpass the 1.5°C warming threshold by mid-century, a scenario that would have catastrophic consequences for vulnerable populations. The consequences include more frequent and severe weather events, rising sea levels, and loss of biodiversity, thereby affecting ecosystems and human livelihoods. Unsustainable human economic exploitation of natural resources, such as water, minerals, and marine and terrestrial biodiversity, coupled with continuing reliance in many economies on fossil-fuel-based energy and products, have continued to drive anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) warns that without significant reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, the impacts of climate change will become increasingly severe, affecting ecosystems, human health, and economies worldwide.¹¹

Forests are disappearing at an alarming rate, particularly in Latin America, sub-Saharan Africa, and Southeast Asia.¹² Deforestation is often driven by international demand for commodities like soy, palm oil, beef, and timber – consumed predominantly in wealthier countries.¹³ Rapid deforestation is causing substantial biodiversity loss and contributing to carbon emissions.

Many developing countries are facing acute water shortages and widespread pollution. ¹⁴ Industrial runoff, agricultural chemicals, and urban waste have degraded water quality, with serious public health implications. ¹⁵ Air and water pollution, along with the overexploitation of natural resources, are escalating, leading to health issues and diminishing the quality of life, particularly in vulnerable communities. ¹⁶

Human activities have altered three-quarters of the Earth's land and twothirds of the marine environment. The loss of species and ecosystems undermines food security, climate resilience, and cultural heritage, particularly for Indigenous communities. These rapid, large-scale changes in global ecosystems threaten the health of the planet and the well-being of billions of people.¹⁷ At the root of these trends are patterns of resource extraction, industrialization, and overconsumption, primarily driven by developed countries. These countries, through centuries of industrial growth, have built economies based on the exploitation of natural resources, often sourced from the Global South. The legacy of colonialism, which structured global economies around raw material extraction for the benefit of European powers, still shapes trade, environmental degradation, and development patterns today.¹⁸

These large-scale ecosystem crises have causes, impacts, and responses that are deeply unequal. At the heart of this inequality lies a systemic imbalance between developed and developing countries. While developed countries are historically responsible for the bulk of greenhouse gas emissions, global deforestation, and air and water pollution, developing countries bear the brunt of their impacts economically, socially, and environmentally. This disparity is not accidental but the result of longstanding global power imbalances, unequal access to resources and technology, and a global governance system, especially in the economic and environmental fields, that often fails to reflect the voices and needs of the Global South. Understanding these trends through the lens of systemic inequity is crucial for crafting just and effective solutions.

Additionally, social inequity, encompassing issues such as gender inequality, racial discrimination, and lack of access to education and healthcare, remains a significant challenge that many countries face globally. These disparities can lead to social unrest, hinder economic growth, and perpetuate cycles of poverty. For example, the world is failing to achieve gender equality, with more than 340 million women and girls projected to live in extreme poverty by 2030 and the gender gap in power and leadership positions remaining entrenched.¹⁹ Furthermore, increasing political polarization and social divisions are eroding democratic institutions and social cohesion in many countries, often driven by factors such as economic disparity, misinformation, and identity politics; many countries are experiencing growing divides over cultural, economic, and political issues, often contributed to by misinformation and digital media, which in turn weaken collective action needed to address global challenges like climate change, global economic inequalities, and rising geopolitical tensions and rivalries.²⁰ Changing demographics in many countries, such as aging populations, inward migration, and urbanization, impact labour markets, access to and provision of healthcare, and the delivery of public social services.²¹

There is hence a polycrisis whose causes and effects are interconnected: the triple planetary crisis (climate change, nature protection and conservation, pollution in the air, oceans and land), the triple economic crisis (poverty, unemployment, shrinking fiscal space), and the triple social crisis (inequality, social marginalization, socio-political instability), all of which are driving more complex geopolitical and geoeconomic inter-state and intra-state tensions and stresses and are putting the world off-track from achieving the SDGs.²²

These challenges are interconnected and reflective of underlying systemic inequity. For instance, economic disparity such as a widening income gap fuels social tensions and political polarization. Populations facing economic hardship may become more susceptible to populist rhetoric and divisive politics, leading to further social fragmentation and instability. Climate change disproportionately affects poorer communities, exacerbating existing social and economic inequalities. Similarly, marginalized groups often have less access to resources and opportunities to adapt to environmental changes, perpetuating cycles of poverty and exclusion, and exacerbating existing economic inequalities. For example, lower-income populations are more vulnerable to extreme weather events and have fewer resources to adapt to environmental changes.

Climate-related disruptions (e.g., extreme weather or slow-onset events) can exacerbate conflicts and displacement due to resource scarcity, migration, and competition, heightening social tensions and divisions. For instance, climate-induced displacement can increase pressures on urban areas and social services, leading to conflict and exclusionary politics. Environmental degradation can often drive migration patterns, affecting social cohesion and economic systems. Globalization and technological advancements further intertwine these challenges, as they can both mitigate and exacerbate inequalities and environmental impacts.

Furthermore, rising geopolitical tensions are shaping national and international responses to this polycrisis. The strategic competition between the United States and China has intensified concerns about global supply chain fragmentation. Both countries are investing heavily in clean energy technologies, yet trade barriers and export restrictions risk undermining global cooperation on climate and other environmental goals.

In an era defined by interconnected global challenges, the intersections between international trade policy, climate action, clean technology production, and the right to development have become increasingly salient. These policy domains are deeply intertwined, with each influencing the others in complex ways. Current geopolitical and geoeconomic trends add layers of complexity to these policy linkages. The rise of economic nationalism and protectionism, exemplified by the heightening US trade war on China and other countries and the increasing use of unilateral economic coercive measures (particularly by the Global North), is disrupting global supply chains and creating uncertainties for clean technology trade. At the same time, the growing emphasis on strategic industrial and technological autonomy has led countries to prioritize domestic production of critical technologies, including clean energy solutions.

A cross-cutting issue underlying all these challenges is the role of the international financial architecture in both giving rise to them and contributing to effectively addressing them. The existing architecture has fallen short in mobilizing the needed sustainable public financing to combat the climate crisis, deliver on human rights and achieve the SDGs – the United Nations has estimated that the SDG financing gap is at \$3.9 trillion a year. As the UN Secretary-General stated in his address to the UN General Assembly in September 2023 at the opening of the GA's High-Level Dialogue on Financing for Development, "That architecture was created at a time when many of today's developing countries were still under colonial rule. It is deeply skewed in favour of the developed world."²³

The international tax architecture has not limited global tax evasion and avoidance and illicit financial flows that restrict the ability of national governments to raise and use national tax revenues for development purposes. Rising inflation and historically high interest rates together with the economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic and climate change have exacerbated a debt crisis in developing countries, limiting their ability to finance essential public policies, with an estimated 52 developing countries facing serious debt-related difficulties in 2023. Borrowing costs are eight times higher for developing countries compared with developed countries on the global financial markets, while developing countries' ability to access liquidity in times of crisis varies considerably. Persistent unfair terms of trade and unbalanced intellectual property regimes continue to contribute to net South-North financial flows. Climate change actions

under the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and the Paris Agreement are largely insufficient due to unfulfilled climate finance obligations that, in any event, also fall short of climate finance needs. ²⁶ Even the new collective quantified goal on climate finance (NCQG) adopted at the 29th UN climate conference in Baku in December 2024 is not commensurate to what is needed by developing countries.

Macroeconomic policies, including fiscal and monetary policies, also play a critical role in shaping the economic environment within which climate action occurs. At their core, these policies influence and reflect the underlying allocation of resources, investment patterns, and economic and political power and inequity, all of which have profound implications for global climate goals.

Public spending and taxation policies directly impact climate change mitigation and adaptation efforts. Green fiscal policies, such as subsidies for renewable energy, carbon pricing, and investments in sustainable infrastructure, align economic incentives with climate objectives. For example, carbon taxes provide disincentives for high-emission activities while generating revenue that can be reinvested in green initiatives. Conversely, fossil fuel subsidies, amounting to hundreds of billions of dollars annually, perpetuate greenhouse gas emissions and delay the transition to low-carbon economies. Phasing out these subsidies is a critical step towards aligning fiscal policies with climate objectives.²⁷

Central banks increasingly recognize the systemic risks posed by climate change to financial stability.²⁸ Integrating climate considerations into monetary policy – such as through green quantitative easing, incorporating climate risks into financial supervision, or incentivizing green lending – can steer capital flows towards sustainable investments. However, traditional monetary policy frameworks that prioritize short-term inflation and employment targets may conflict with the long-term horizons required for climate action.²⁹

In this context, the nexus between international trade policy, climate action, clean technology production, and the achievement by developing countries of their right to development is increasingly significant in today's complex geopolitical and geoeconomic environment. The urgent need to address climate change and other global environmental challenges has brought global climate and environmental policymaking to the forefront of international

policy discourse in recent years. Simultaneously, macroeconomic and trade agendas continue to shape the global economy, determining patterns of production, consumption, and resource allocation. These agendas and climate action are intricately interconnected. Understanding these systemic interlinkages is crucial to ensuring that global economic systems support, rather than hinder, the transition to a sustainable and resilient future.

Historical and Present-Day Causes of Systemic Inequity in International Trade and Climate Policy Regimes

THE roots of global environmental and trade inequities lie in centuries of unequal power dynamics. Colonial powers from Europe and their offshoots in North America and Oceania systematically extracted raw materials, labour, and wealth from colonized regions, disrupting local political structures, economies, and ecosystems. Colonial exploitation established economic structures that prioritized resource extraction from the colonized regions for the benefit of colonial powers, leading to long-term economic dependencies. Colonial infrastructure and institutions were designed to serve colonial export markets rather than support the development of the colonized regions. These colonial structural patterns continue to be reflected in many ways, including in the commodity dependence of the economies of many of today's developing countries, the patterns of trade with their former colonial masters, and the political, legal and economic structures that they have adopted.³⁰

Colonialism supported asymmetrical industrialization and development. Today's developed countries by and large industrialized early using coal, oil, and gas, sourced at first domestically but increasingly from their colonial possessions – these are inexpensive fossil-based energy resources that fuelled economic growth but also caused environmental damage in their extraction and production and greenhouse gas emissions in their use, leading to global warming. This leading role in fossil-fuelled industrialization, coupled with the creation of international structures and patterns of trade that maintained colonial patterns of dependency, enabled today's developed countries to accumulate wealth and establish economic and political dominance on a global scale over the course of the past 500 years, particularly more so from the late 19th to the early 21st centuries.³¹

For example, one of the clearest indicators of systemic inequity in climate change is the historical emissions gap. Since the Industrial Revolution, developed countries have been the primary emitters of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases, building their wealth through fossil-fuel-driven industrialization. The United States, European countries, and other industrialized countries collectively account for most of the cumulative anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions that give rise to global warming since the start of the Industrial Revolution. In contrast, many developing countries, including those with large populations like India and much of sub-Saharan Africa, have contributed relatively little to the climate crisis yet are now expected to limit their emissions growth while still struggling with poverty and underdevelopment.³²

This historical responsibility for colonialism and global warming is rarely matched by accountability. While developed countries have, for example, pledged climate finance and technology transfers to support developing countries' transitions to low-carbon economies (not least as actual treaty commitments under the UNFCCC and Paris Agreement), the actual delivery of these commitments has been inconsistent and often insufficient.³³ The global climate discourse tends to focus on current emissions, which obscures the historical role of developed countries and shifts blame to emerging economies.

Systemic inequity becomes starkly visible when comparing who causes environmental harm and who suffers its effects. As pointed out above, developed countries with their high levels of industrialization account for most cumulative carbon emissions, consume a disproportionate share of global resources, and generate the most waste per capita. Their economic models rely on a global supply chain that often outsources the most environmentally harmful activities – such as mining, manufacturing, and waste disposal – to developing countries.

The impacts of environmental degradation and climate change are felt unevenly, reinforcing global inequalities. Developing countries face the harshest consequences. Coastal countries are vulnerable to sea-level rise, while arid and tropical regions experience desertification, extreme weather, and loss of agricultural productivity. Communities in these countries frequently lack the infrastructure, financial resources, or political influence to effectively adapt to environmental threats or address the losses and damages that arise from extreme weather and slow-onset events. Developing countries face heightened risks from climate change due to geographic, economic, and infrastructural vulnerabilities. For instance, the Sahel region faces worsening droughts, while small island developing states confront existential threats from sea-level rise. This vulnerability is compounded by poverty, weak governance, and limited access to technology and capital.³⁴

Climate change is reversing decades of development gains. Agricultural productivity is declining, infrastructure is being destroyed by extreme weather, and health crises are worsening – all of which strain public budgets and reduce growth potential. Climate change has increased economic inequality between developed and developing countries by 25% since 1960, as it hampers economic growth in poorer countries while sometimes benefiting cooler, developed regions.³⁵

Many developing countries also face the virtually impossible task of financing climate adaptation and disaster recovery while also servicing external debts.³⁶ Many are forced to take on more debt after climate disasters, further entrenching cycles of dependency and economic precarity.³⁷ Despite international commitments, developing countries face an annual shortfall of about \$2.2 trillion in climate finance necessary to transition to renewable energy and meet 2030 climate targets,³⁸ and up to nearly \$6 trillion to implement their national climate action plans by 2030. While international agreements like the Paris Agreement recognize the principle of "common but differentiated responsibilities," climate finance has fallen short of what is needed. Developed countries pledged \$100 billion annually by 2020 to support climate action in developing countries, yet this target might not have been met. Moreover, much of the finance provided comes in the form of loans rather than grants, increasing the debt burdens of already-struggling economies.

The term "environmental injustice" describes how marginalized populations bear disproportionate environmental burdens. In the international context, this becomes a "green divide" between rich and poor countries.³⁹ Developed countries have the capacity to invest in clean energy, climate-resilient

infrastructure, and pollution control. Developing countries, on the other hand, often lack the financial resources or political stability to make these investments without external support. Access to green technologies – such as renewable energy infrastructure, early warning systems, and climateresilient agriculture – is also highly unequal. Patents, costs, and restrictive intellectual property rights often place these technologies out of reach for poorer countries.⁴⁰ This limits their ability to decarbonize and adapt at the pace required to meet global climate goals.

This divide extends to undertaking economic diversification and transition efforts to shift economies onto sustainable development pathways. While the transition to renewable energy and sustainable technologies is crucial, the materials needed for solar panels, batteries, and other green infrastructure – such as lithium, cobalt, and rare earth metals – are often extracted from ecologically fragile and politically unstable regions in the Global South. The benefits of any sustainable development-focused transition risk being captured by wealthy countries, while the environmental and social costs remain in poorer countries.

A. Systemic Inequity in Global Climate Governance

Global environmental governance, for example through agreements like the UNFCCC, the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), and international environmental funding mechanisms, has seen significant progress in developing shared international norms and mechanisms for cooperation on global environmental problems. However, these frameworks often fall short in addressing the core inequities between developed and developing countries.

Developing countries are frequently underrepresented in decision-making spaces and face pressures to adopt environmental standards set by the Global North, which may not align with their development needs. Global climate governance continues to be heavily influenced by the interests and agendas of developed countries. Developing countries frequently find themselves sidelined in key negotiations or pressured into agreements that do not reflect their priorities. The lack of equitable representation and imbalanced power dynamics within climate institutions mirror broader systemic inequities in global governance.⁴¹

Addressing the systemic inequities that underpin the climate crisis requires a shift towards climate justice. This means recognizing historical emissions responsibility, ensuring fair access to climate finance and technology, and amplifying the voices of developing countries in global climate forums. Solutions must be grounded in equity – supporting sustainable development, protecting human rights, and prioritizing the needs of the most vulnerable.

Equity and justice are fundamental to effective climate governance. This is clearly exemplified in, for example, Article 3.1 of the UNFCCC – which states: "The Parties [to the UNFCCC] should protect the climate system for the benefit of present and future generations of humankind, on the basis of equity and in accordance with their common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities. Accordingly, the developed country Parties should take the lead in combating climate change and the adverse effects thereof" – and Article 2.2 of the Paris Agreement which states: "This Agreement will be implemented to reflect equity and the principle of common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities, in the light of different national circumstances." These principles are central to international climate agreements, underscoring that while all countries are responsible for addressing climate change, developed and developing countries have differentiated responsibilities and capabilities for doing so. Developed countries, having historically contributed more to greenhouse gas emissions, are expected to lead mitigation efforts and support developing countries through financial and technological means. Reaffirming commitments to principles like common but differentiated responsibilities and enhancing support for vulnerable countries are essential steps towards rectifying these disparities and fostering a more just and effective global response to climate change.

However, President Donald Trump's decision in January 2025 to again withdraw the United States from the Paris Agreement⁴² and cease US federal government participation in virtually all climate-change-related actions and activities both domestically and internationally serves as a stark reflection of the systemic inequities that pervade global climate change discourse, particularly the ability of developed countries generally to act as they wish with relative impunity and without sanction, even if doing so violates international law or vitiates international cooperation. It underscores the

challenges of achieving equitable international cooperation in addressing a crisis that, while global in nature, imposes common but differentiated responsibilities.

The US' unilateral (re)withdrawal highlights the fragility of international commitments to equitable climate action. By stepping back from its commitments, the US set a precedent that could encourage other developed countries to evade their responsibilities, potentially leading to a domino effect that undermines collective climate action. This retreat from leadership exacerbates the challenges faced by developing countries, deepening the chasm between countries in terms of both culpability for and capacity to address climate change. The US withdrawal not only reduces the financial and technological support that can be made available from developed to developing countries but also undermines the collaborative spirit necessary for global climate resilience.

Furthermore, it is not only the US that has stepped back from or not fulfilled its international climate obligations under the UNFCCC and the Paris Agreement. Other developed countries have also fallen short, including in the areas of mitigation, provision of adaptation finance and climate finance, and technology transfer.⁴³

B. Systemic Inequity in the International Trade System

One of the fundamental sources of inequality in the global trade system lies in the colonial legacy and the historical structuring of the global economy. Colonialism created economic patterns where developing countries, especially those that were occupied and became colonies, were integrated into the world economy as primarily providers of labour (in many cases, slaves and other forced labour) and raw materials and as consumers of manufactured goods exported from the colonizing country. Even after decolonization, many developing countries remained reliant on the export of primary commodities with limited value addition, while developed countries continued to dominate the production and export of high-value manufactured goods and services. This historical dependence has had lasting consequences, constraining the economic diversification of many developing countries and locking them into disadvantageous positions within global value chains.⁴⁴

Trade agreements and institutions such as the World Trade Organization are often structured in ways that reflect the interests of powerful economies, especially the developed countries such as the US and the EU. While these institutions promote liberalization and "level playing fields," the reality is that trade rules are not equally beneficial to all. Since the establishment of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) in 1947 and later the WTO in 1995, the global trading system has ostensibly operated on principles of fairness, predictability, and multilateral cooperation. However, notwithstanding the inclusion of provisions in these agreements that provide for special and differential treatment - e.g., preferential treatment - for developing countries, these institutions often reflect the interests of developed countries rather than genuine equity among countries. The rules of global trade disproportionately benefit developed countries, allowing them to maintain protective measures such as agricultural subsidies while demanding liberalization from developing countries, creating unfair competition for farmers in developing countries. In the manufacturing sector, developing countries are often pressured to lower tariffs and open their markets prematurely, exposing their fledgling industries to international competition without sufficient support. 45 Moreover, trade-related intellectual property rules, such as those enforced under the WTO's Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS), often benefit corporations in developed countries while restricting access to essential climate technologies and medicines in the Global South.⁴⁶ This institutional asymmetry reinforces existing inequalities and limits the policy space of developing countries to pursue developmental objectives.

Participation in global trade arrangements therefore does not automatically translate into economic empowerment for developing countries. Many of these countries find themselves trapped at the bottom of global value chains, performing low-wage, labour-intensive tasks with minimal opportunities for technological upgrading or value addition. The dominance of multinational corporations, often headquartered in developed countries, further exacerbates this situation, as they capture a disproportionate share of profits while limiting the bargaining power and developmental benefits available to local firms and workers.

Another major source of inequity is the imbalance of power in international trade negotiations. Developed countries typically have more resources,

technical expertise, and ability to coordinate and work together, which then increase their influence to shape the rules of trade to their advantage. In contrast, many developing countries lack institutional capacity and negotiating power to fully defend their interests, in addition to all too often lacking the political will to coordinate and cooperate with each other to defend and promote their common interests. As a result, trade deals often reflect the preferences of developed countries, with limited representation or meaningful participation from the Global South. This dynamic is evident not only in multilateral institutions like the WTO but also in regional and bilateral trade agreements, where the disparity in negotiating power is even more pronounced.⁴⁷

Nowhere is such an imbalance of power and influence more clearly seen than in the relative ability of developed countries to undertake unilateral trade actions. Where developing countries often lack the ability and market clout to unilaterally impose trade sanctions on others, developed countries, particularly the bigger ones among them such as the US and the EU, often can do so with relative impunity.

For example, the unilateral tariff actions pursued by US President Trump, whether during his first term or during his second term, reflect the broader systemic inequities embedded in global economic power relationships. These actions have bypassed and violated US treaty obligations under the WTO. In doing so, they highlight a foundational flaw in global trade governance: powerful countries can choose to ignore the rules when those rules are inconvenient to them, revealing the WTO's limited capacity to enforce compliance against its most influential members. Even now, as of this writing, US unilateral trade actions that violate its WTO obligations have triggered unilateral trade actions in response by other countries that are also inconsistent with such WTO obligations, thereby creating a systemic institutional crisis in the multilateral trade regime.

These should be seen as not isolated instances but rather as symptomatic of a global order marked by asymmetrical power, selective rule enforcement, and declining multilateralism. Trump's tariff actions represent not merely an aggressive negotiation tactic, but a manifestation of the deeply unequal structure of global trade governance and power distribution. By seeking to unilaterally enforce its economic will, the US exemplifies the capacity of

powerful countries to operate outside multilateral frameworks, thereby weakening or collapsing these frameworks in the process, to respond to domestic political and nationalist concerns. Nevertheless, the global implications of such actions go far beyond domestic concerns. They serve as a form of economic coercion aimed at reshaping global supply chains in favour of, for example, US strategic economic and geopolitical interests, serving as instruments for reasserting US hegemonic control over international trade norms and relationships outside of multilateral consensus-based decision-making.

The effects of Trump's tariffs are now rippling through the global economy, with the impacts to be potentially proportionally more adverse in developing countries. Many developing countries are integrated into global supply chains and disruptions in trade flows can have severe economic consequences. Moreover, the trade policy liberalization demanded of developing countries under the WTO and previous rounds of regional and bilateral free trade agreements has often left them vulnerable to external economic shocks caused by the actions of their developed country partners. This erosion of multilateralism is particularly dangerous for smaller developing countries as they are left more vulnerable to coercive tactics by developed countries.

In exposing the fragility and inequity of the existing order, Trump's trade policy ultimately serves as a case study in how global economic power continues to be exercised through hegemonic rather than democratic means. For a truly equitable international system to emerge, there must be not only reform of global institutions, but also a recognition of the systemic power imbalances that allow for such unilateral actions in the first place.

C. Systemic Inequity in Climate Technologies

The production of and trade in climate technologies, such as solar panels, wind turbines, and electric vehicles (EVs), are central to the global transition to a low-carbon economy. However, the global supply chains for these technologies are often concentrated in a few countries, raising concerns about supply security and geopolitical tensions. This concentration creates vulnerabilities for other countries and underscores the need for diversification and resilience in clean technology supply chains.

Climate technologies are disproportionately developed and controlled by countries and firms in the Global North. Intellectual property regimes often make access to these technologies expensive for developing countries, inhibiting their ability in various ways to pursue just transitions and economic diversification strategies.⁴⁸ The accumulation of wealth in developed countries, historically through colonialism and more recently through globalization, has enabled substantial investments in climate technologies and infrastructure, whereas developing countries often lack the financial resources to make similar transitions.

Several countries lead in the research, development and production of clean climate technologies, driven by investments in renewable energy, energy efficiency, and carbon reduction technologies. Aside from China, these leading countries are all developed countries. For example, the US leads in innovating on carbon capture, hydrogen energy and nuclear fusion research and development (R&D), driven in part by massive infusions in recent years of public subsidies for clean energy under the Biden-era Inflation Reduction Act. In the EU, Germany and Denmark are leaders in the development and production of wind energy technologies (including offshore wind), Germany and France in hydrogen energy technology, and Germany in energy efficiency technologies such as heat pumps and battery storage. Australia, Japan, and Canada have also been at the forefront of R&D in hydrogen energy, while Japan has also led in energy efficiency innovations such as heat pumps, battery storage and EVs. Among developing countries, only China and to some extent India have managed to develop leadership in some types of climate technologies, including solar panels, wind turbines, and battery storage; China has developed a strong lead in the development and production of EVs.⁴⁹

The patenting of climate technologies is a key indicator of where control of these technologies is concentrated. In the area of renewable energy technologies, for example, historically, developed countries have dominated patent filings. As of 2010, five patent offices – the US, Japan, China, South Korea, and the European Patent Office – accounted for almost 85% of all patent applications in clean energy technologies. Historically, Japan has been a leader in renewable energy patents. Between 2010 and 2019, Japanese entities accounted for 25% of international patents in low-carbon energy inventions. The US has also maintained a strong position in clean energy patents, contributing 20% of international patents in the same period. Germany

also has been a significant contributor to clean energy innovations, with German firms accounting for a notable share of patents. Among developing countries, China's patent filings in renewable energy technologies have increased notably, especially in areas like solar photovoltaics, far outpacing the rest of developing countries combined. Less than 1% of all patent applications related to clean energy technologies have been filed in Africa, highlighting the continent's limited participation in clean energy innovation. Developing countries have had a relatively small share in global patenting activities in this sector.⁵⁰

This skewed pattern of climate technology production and patenting stems from, and is also a reflection of, the systemic inequity present in capital investment patterns with respect to these technologies. Investment in climate technology is heavily dominated by companies based in developed countries, again with the exception primarily of China and its companies.

Major technology firms and energy companies primarily from developed countries, including Tesla (US), BYD (China), Siemens (Germany), and Shell (UK), are at the forefront of driving clean energy adoption and electrification. Corporate power purchase agreements (PPAs) have emerged as pivotal drivers of solar and wind energy expansion. Leading technology firms such as Amazon (US), Google (US), and Microsoft (US) have spearheaded this movement, with Amazon investing in over 100 new solar and wind projects in 2023, thereby becoming the world's largest corporate purchaser of renewable energy.⁵¹

Among developed countries, the United Kingdom, for instance, had seven offshore wind projects under construction as of June 2024 as it seeks to expand its renewable energy infrastructure, followed by France and Germany.⁵² The EU has enacted legislation mandating that all new cars sold from 2035 onwards must be zero-emission vehicles, aiming to achieve carbon neutrality in the transport sector by 2050.⁵³ Heavy-duty transportation is also transitioning towards electrification. Major developed country truck manufacturers such as Daimler and Volvo anticipate that 25% to 35% of their new truck sales will be electric by 2030, reflecting a significant shift in the industry.⁵⁴

Hydrogen is gaining global attention as a versatile clean fuel. Japan has launched a ¥5.7 billion subsidy tender to support the development of hydrogen hubs, aiming to enhance efficient production, transportation, and storage of hydrogen.⁵⁵ Similarly, Saudi Arabia is investing \$5 billion in the Helios project to produce green hydrogen for export, aiming to diversify its energy portfolio.⁵⁶

The US is promoting carbon capture, utilization, and storage (CCUS) through tax credits, offering up to \$85 per metric ton of sequestered carbon dioxide to incentivize the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions. Major oil and gas companies are investing in CCUS technologies to decarbonize their operations and align with global climate goals.⁵⁷ Investments in grid resilience are also increasing, with the US and EU focusing on artificial intelligence (AI)–powered smart grids to enhance efficiency and reliability.⁵⁸ Additionally, the electrification of heating systems, particularly through heat pumps, is experiencing significant growth as a sustainable alternative to traditional heating methods.⁵⁹

The global battery manufacturing sector is experiencing robust growth, with investments projected to reach approximately \$300 billion by 2030; this surge is driven by the escalating demand for lithium-ion batteries, essential for EVs and energy storage solutions. ⁶⁰ Innovations in battery chemistry are also advancing. Contemporary Amperex Technology Co., Limited (CATL) (China) has announced plans to commence production of its second-generation sodium-ion batteries in 2025, aiming for an energy density exceeding 200 Wh/kg. Concurrently, companies like QuantumScape (US) are developing solid-state batteries that promise enhanced performance and safety for EVs. ⁶¹ In the US, the Inflation Reduction Act is stimulating domestic battery production through substantial incentives, aiming to reduce reliance on foreign supply chains and bolster the national clean energy economy. ⁶²

Even in the area of agriculture, venture capital from developed countries is increasingly supporting plant-based and lab-grown meat companies, driven by environmental and ethical considerations.⁶³ AI-driven agriculture technologies, such as precision soil monitoring, are gaining traction, enhancing productivity and sustainability.⁶⁴ Furthermore, carbon farming initiatives are expanding, offering incentives for practices that sequester carbon in soil, thereby contributing to climate change mitigation, albeit not without some controversy.⁶⁵

Developing countries' contributions to global patenting, production, and export of clean climate technologies vary significantly, with notable disparities between regions and individual countries. Almost solely among developing countries, China has managed to develop a leading role in these technologies. China has become a global leader in manufacturing and exporting clean energy technologies, including solar panels, wind turbines, and batteries; for instance, in 2022, about 99% of solar panels imported into Latin America were made in China, and approximately 70% of EVs imported into the region were also Chinese-made, and as of 2021, China produced approximately 70% of the world's solar photovoltaic modules. 66 China has solidified its position as the preeminent investor in renewable energy, directing significant capital towards low-emission power sources; in 2024, China allocated approximately \$940 billion to clean energy investments. 67 China continues to lead globally in EV sales and production. In 2024, the country marked its 10th consecutive year as the top producer and seller of EVs, with sales increasing by approximately 40% compared with the previous year.⁶⁸ China's significant production capacity has positioned it as a leading exporter of clean energy technologies, supplying affordable renewable energy equipment globally.

Other developing countries are also seeking to establish themselves in climate technologies. India has made substantial investments in renewable energy, particularly in solar and wind power, aiming to increase its renewable energy capacity significantly; other countries like Chile are positioning themselves as leaders in clean hydrogen production, leveraging abundant renewable energy resources to produce and potentially export clean hydrogen. Some developing countries are adopting microgrid solutions to provide off-grid electricity, improving energy access in remote areas.⁶⁹

Despite these advancements, many developing countries still face challenges in scaling up production and export of clean energy technologies due to factors such as limited access to financing, technological know-how, and infrastructure. Overall, while developing countries have made strides in producing and exporting certain clean energy technologies, their share in global patenting remains low. Continued efforts to enhance innovation capabilities, infrastructure, and investment in these countries are crucial to increasing their participation in the global clean energy sector.

D. Systemic Inequity in Capital Ownership and Its Impact on Investment, Trade, and Patent Ownership in Climate Technologies

The reason for the systemic inequity in terms of the patenting, production, and export of climate technologies lies in the relationship between capital ownership and investment, trade and patent ownership of such technologies. The global transition to a low-carbon economy hinges on the rapid development and deployment of climate technologies. However, the direction and pace of this transformation are not solely determined by innovation or environmental need; they are profoundly shaped by the structures of capital ownership. Capital ownership plays a crucial role in shaping investment patterns, trade flows, and patent ownership in climate technologies.⁷⁰

Whether through direct investment, control over trade, or dominance in intellectual property rights, the ownership and distribution of capital play a central role in determining who benefits – and who is left behind – in the emerging climate technology economy. This relationship significantly impacts the development and technological gap between developed and developing countries. The concentration of financial and technological resources in specific regions and industries influences which countries and corporations lead in developing, producing, and exporting clean energy technologies.

As the world transitions towards clean and sustainable energy systems, a stark reality persists: the benefits of climate technology are not shared equally. At the core of this imbalance is capital ownership, which determines who innovates, who produces, who trades, and ultimately who leads in the global clean tech economy. Capital ownership widens the technological gap between developed and developing countries by influencing patent control, trade dominance, investment flows, and policy sovereignty. Wealth and innovation are increasingly concentrated in a few corporate hands mostly from developed countries because of systemic inequities – leaving much of the Global South struggling to catch up.⁷¹

i. Corporate Control of Capital

Capital ownership fundamentally shapes who can invest in climate technologies and what types of innovations are prioritized. Capital investment is an area where ownership dynamics play a critical role. Developed countries, for example, dominate global clean energy finance: the US, the EU, and China are the top investors in renewable energy infrastructure and R&D. About 80% of all private capital in clean tech is directed to these countries.⁷²

Large multinational corporations (MNCs) mostly from developed countries, state-owned enterprises (SOEs), and financial investors like private equity and venture capital (VC) firms dominate the climate tech investment landscape (even as global climate technology equity financing fell in 2024). In developed economies, especially the US, the EU, Japan, and South Korea, private-sector R&D spending plays a central role. Corporations such as Tesla, Siemens, and Toyota are at the forefront, channelling billions into batteries, hydrogen technologies, and carbon capture solutions.⁷³

Meanwhile, state-backed capital – particularly in China and the Middle East – has emerged as a powerful force in scaling up production capacity. Chinese SOEs like CATL and the State Grid Corporation benefit from massive state funding, enabling them to dominate global solar, EV, and battery markets. ⁷⁴ Similarly, sovereign wealth funds from Saudi Arabia and the UAE are investing heavily in hydrogen and carbon capture technologies, often with a long-term strategic focus. ⁷⁵

Venture capital and private equity, especially prevalent in the US and parts of Europe, support the riskier end of the innovation spectrum. Startups like QuantumScape (solid-state batteries) and Climeworks (carbon capture) receive high-risk, high-reward funding, pushing the technological frontier but often lacking the capacity for large-scale deployment.⁷⁶

The implications of these dynamics are clear: access to capital not only accelerates innovation but also shapes its direction. State-led investments tend to emphasize industrial scaling and national competitiveness, while private capital focuses on breakthrough innovations with commercial promise. In many cases, however, developing countries would often face multiple barriers to attracting similar investment due to limited access to capital markets and investment risk; high perceived risks – such as political instability, weak regulatory frameworks, or inadequate infrastructure – deter investors, and the cost of capital is significantly higher in these regions, making clean energy projects more expensive to launch and sustain.⁷⁷ As a result, their ability to develop, deploy, or scale climate technologies remains constrained.

Many developing countries struggle to scale renewable energy fast enough to meet their climate and development goals. Without adequate capital, they remain reliant on international aid, loans from the IMF or World Bank, or foreign investments.

ii. Capital Ownership and Trade in Climate Technologies

Trade outcomes in climate technologies are equally shaped by capital ownership, particularly in terms of production assets. China's dominance in global clean energy trade is closely tied to its ownership of vast production infrastructure, largely funded and operated by SOEs. The country controls approximately 80% of global solar panel production and a significant share of EV battery manufacturing, securing its position as the world's leading clean tech exporter.

In contrast, high-tech components and systems – such as semiconductors and hydrogen technologies – are largely dominated by firms based in the US and Japan. Ownership of the raw materials essential for many climate technologies is similarly concentrated. Countries like Chile (lithium) and the Democratic Republic of Congo (cobalt) possess the resources, but foreign firms – often backed by foreign governments or private capital – control extraction and export rights.

Trade policies are increasingly shaped by this capital concentration. Developed countries, concerned with protecting domestic industries and addressing supply chain vulnerabilities, have imposed tariffs and carbon border adjustment mechanisms. The US, for example, levies tariffs on Chinese solar panels, while the EU is implementing measures to reduce the carbon footprint of imports. These policies often disadvantage developing countries, which, due to their capital limitations, remain locked in roles as raw material exporters rather than value-added producers.

This uneven trade landscape reinforces existing inequalities. Countries with the capital to build clean tech production facilities dominate global markets, while others are relegated to the lower end of the supply chain. Trade tensions – such as the ongoing disputes between the US and China over solar and EV technologies – are a direct reflection of these imbalances in capital ownership.

Global trade in climate technologies mirrors patterns of capital ownership. China, the US, and the EU dominate exports of clean tech products. China alone manufactures over 80% of the world's solar panels, 60% of wind turbines, and 70% of EV batteries – thanks to its strategic investments and ownership of key production facilities; meanwhile, the US and EU excel in exporting high-tech components like semiconductors, hydrogen systems, and AI-based energy technologies.⁷⁹

In contrast, developing countries are locked into low-value roles within the clean tech supply chain. Chile exports lithium, but it lacks domestic battery production. The Democratic Republic of Congo supplies 70% of global cobalt but has no significant domestically owned refining capacity. Similarly, Africa exports materials critical to solar panels yet produces almost none of the final products.⁸⁰

This production imbalance results in a familiar pattern: developing countries export raw materials, while developed countries capture the value-added benefits through manufacturing and intellectual property. These dynamics limit opportunities for industrial growth in the Global South and make their economies vulnerable to price swings and supply chain disruptions.

Further, unequal trade policies – such as tariffs on clean tech exports from developing nations and carbon border adjustment taxes – make it even harder for these countries to compete in the global market. These barriers compound existing disadvantages, reinforcing the cycle of underdevelopment.

iii. Capital Ownership and Patent Ownership in Climate Technologies

The control of intellectual property (IP) – particularly patents – is another critical dimension through which capital ownership exerts influence over the climate technology landscape. Patent ownership not only reflects past investments but also confers long-term market power, as it dictates who can license, use, and profit from technological advancements.

As noted above, ownership of patents with respect to climate technologies is heavily skewed towards developed countries. This disparity stems largely from unequal access to capital. Clean technology R&D is capital-intensive

and typically backed by robust public and private investment. Countries like the US fund research through agencies like the Department of Energy (DOE), while China leverages its state-owned enterprises to drive innovation. ⁸¹ Meanwhile, most developing countries lack the public funding, venture capital networks, and institutional infrastructure necessary to support sustained innovation. China's investment in state-led R&D has yielded a rapid increase in domestic patent filings, challenging the longstanding dominance of Western nations. However, the innovation gap between developed and developing countries remains stark, as developed countries (aside from China) largely dominate the field. ⁸² This imbalance in patent ownership limits the accessibility of climate technologies for developing countries, as the cost of licensing patented technologies can be prohibitively high, slowing adoption and localization. ⁸³

Compounding the problem is the migration of talent. Highly skilled researchers from the Global South often relocate to wealthier nations in search of better funding, facilities, and opportunities.⁸⁴ Even when innovation does occur locally, foreign ownership of local R&D centres often results in patents being registered under foreign corporations, depriving local innovators of full benefits.⁸⁵

The relative lack of locally owned patents and technologies has cascading effects. Developing countries face higher costs when deploying renewable energy solutions, as they must import equipment and pay royalties. This slows their energy transitions, undermines domestic industrialization efforts, and results in fewer economic benefits staying within their borders. This pattern entrenches technological dependence and leaves developing countries as consumers – not creators – of clean technology.

iv. Capital Ownership Shapes the Future of Climate Technologies

The structure of capital ownership over climate technologies is a powerful determinant of who leads, who lags, and who benefits from the global climate transition. Countries and corporations with deep financial resources and ownership of critical assets and intellectual property dictate the pace, scale, and direction of clean tech development. Capital ownership is not just an economic statistic – it is a systemic force that shapes who holds power with respect to the technologies needed for effective climate action and the clean

energy transition. Today, the dominance of developed countries and large corporations in patents, trade, and investment has created an entrenched technological hierarchy. Developing countries face persistent obstacles: limited innovation capacity, unequal trade terms, high financing costs, and weakened policy autonomy.

Investment power drives innovation, with state-led efforts (China, Middle East) focused on scaling production and private capital (US, EU) emphasizing early-stage, high-impact innovation. Ownership of production assets determines trade dominance, allowing countries like China to export finished technologies at scale, while other developing countries remain tethered to raw material exports. Meanwhile, patent ownership reinforces market power, enabling wealthy nations and corporations to control the pricing, access, and diffusion of clean tech innovations.

To foster a more equitable clean energy future, several strategies must be pursued. Public-private partnerships can help mobilize capital for clean energy development in the Global South. Technology transfer policy initiatives, such as those proposed by developing countries in the WTO and the UNFCCC, should be pursued to reduce IP-related barriers. Finally, local production incentives – like India's "Make in India" initiative – can help shift countries from resource exporters to clean tech producers, ensuring more inclusive participation in the global climate economy.

Ultimately, addressing the inequalities embedded in capital ownership will be critical to ensuring that the clean energy transition is not only rapid and effective but also just and inclusive. Addressing these challenges requires more than aid – it calls for structural reform.

Geopolitics, Trade, Climate Policy, and Sustainable Development: Intersections in a Multipolar World

THE intersection of international trade rules, climate change policies, and sustainable development is increasingly shaped by geopolitical dynamics and great power rivalries. As the urgency of climate action intensifies, these domains – once governed in relatively separate silos – are now deeply entangled. This convergence is especially consequential for the Global South, which sits at the crossroads of economic vulnerability and environmental risk. Climate and trade frameworks have become new arenas for geopolitical competition and the Global South is both a battleground and a potential shaper of systemic global interlinkages.⁸⁶

While climate change mitigation is a global imperative, it is also emerging as a tool of strategic competition among great powers. The US, the EU, and China have positioned themselves as leaders in the green transition, but their climate actions are increasingly shaped by broader geopolitical agendas. The EU's Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism exemplifies this dynamic. Although designed to prevent "carbon leakage" by taxing carbon-intensive imports, CBAM also serves as a mechanism to export EU environmental standards. For countries like China and India – major exporters of steel, cement, and other emissions-intensive goods – CBAM is seen as a form of green protectionism that undermines their industrial competitiveness. The result is diplomatic tension and accusations of disguised trade barriers. The US' Inflation Reduction Act escalated tensions further by prioritizing domestic green energy production through subsidies that exclude many foreign firms. Although it represents the largest-ever American investment in clean energy, allies such as the EU and Japan have criticized it for violating global trade norms and sidelining international cooperation in favour of industrial nationalism.

Control of green technologies and critical raw materials is also at the heart of this rivalry. China's dominance in the production of solar panels and electric vehicle batteries together with its control over rare earth mineral supply chains has caused concern in developed countries.⁸⁷ As countries race to secure energy independence, these supply chain dependencies are no longer considered to be just economic concerns but increasingly seen to be national security issues.

Geopolitical rivalries have also eroded trust in multilateral trade frameworks, making it harder to coordinate climate and development policies equitably. The WTO, once a central forum for resolving disputes and promoting trade, has been increasingly paralyzed as unilateral trade measures imposed by countries against each other proliferate. One other contentious area is intellectual property. The WTO's TRIPS Agreement has become a sticking point in global climate negotiations. Developing countries such as India and South Africa argue that IP protections on green technologies hinder their ability to decarbonize affordably. Their calls for TRIPS waivers to promote technology transfer have been met with resistance from developed countries, perpetuating a technological divide. Meanwhile, the US-China trade war has disrupted global supply chains, affecting third-party economies in the Global South. Countries like Vietnam and Bangladesh, which rely on exports to both countries, now face rising uncertainty due to the unpredictability of geopolitical manoeuvring.

Nowhere are the systemic linkages, and the systemic inequity, between climate, trade, and development more consequential than in the Global South. The energy transition has fuelled new resource conflicts, especially around critical minerals. Climate-induced disruptions – such as floods in Pakistan or cyclones in Mozambique – continue to ravage economies that are already heavily dependent on trade. For some developing countries, access to climate finance is blocked by developed countries due to geopolitical considerations.

International Cooperation as the Vehicle for Addressing Systemic Inequity

ADDRESSING the systemic inequities embedded in global environmental trends requires structural changes as developing countries face the dual challenge of addressing poverty and inequality while transitioning to sustainable economies. Protecting the environment cannot come at the expense of poverty reduction and human development. A just environmental transition must support countries in pursuing low-carbon, resilient pathways that align with their own development priorities, while ensuring ecological sustainability, social equity, and local community empowerment.

The right to development, enshrined in the United Nations Declaration on the Right to Development (1986),88 emphasizes that all individuals and peoples are entitled to participate in, contribute to, and benefit from economic, social, cultural, and political development. This right is particularly relevant in the context of climate action and climate technology trade. Trade and climate policies must be designed to support the right to development by ensuring that developing countries have the resources, technology, and capacity to pursue low-carbon development pathways. Balancing trade, climate action, and climate technology adoption with the right to development presents unique challenges. For developing countries, green industrialization strategies can facilitate climate resilience while driving economic growth. Investment in renewable energy infrastructure, skill development for green jobs, and sustainable agriculture initiatives are critical.

This requires financial and technical assistance from developed countries, as well as equitable access to global markets for climate technologies. For instance, preferential trade agreements and capacity-building initiatives can help developing countries integrate into global clean technology value chains.

At the same time, climate policies must avoid imposing undue burdens on developing countries, such as through overly stringent carbon tariffs that could hinder their economic growth.

The complexity of the systemic inequity challenge, with its multiple interlinkages to global policy issues in the trade and climate arenas, implies that no single country can address this challenge by itself. International cooperation is required.

International cooperation frameworks, such as the UNFCCC and its Paris Agreement, provide the foundation for global climate action. These frameworks establish common goals, such as limiting global warming to 1.5°C, and mechanisms for collaboration, including Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) and climate finance commitments. However, their effectiveness depends on alignment with other policy areas, particularly trade and technology transfer. Developing countries can take proactive steps to shape and influence such international cooperation frameworks and ensure their interests are represented.

International cooperation in the current context, however, faces several barriers. Geopolitical rivalries, particularly between major powers like the US and China, often obstruct collaborative progress. Inequitable power structures within multilateral institutions reduce the influence of developing countries, undermining trust in global governance. Resource limitations and inconsistent donor commitments hamper the implementation of multilateral programmes, especially in climate finance. Overcoming these challenges requires intentional reform, sustained political will, and inclusive leadership.

To ensure that international cooperation would be viable and effective, there is a need to enhance inclusivity in governance so that developing countries have greater representation in decision-making bodies and governance structures; promote policy coherence among institutions working on trade, climate, and development to avoid contradictory outcomes; and support the strengthening of international and regional bodies to work together and serve as institutional vectors between global frameworks and national implementation.

The Need for Collective Action Among Developing Countries to Address Systemic Inequity

GIVEN the scale and systemic nature of these challenges, no country can address them alone. Developing countries must act collectively to reshape the global environmental and trade systems in a way that prioritizes justice, equity, and sustainable development. This would require:

- Strengthening the equity and climate justice narrative: Developing countries should call for a restructured global economy that centres equity, including significant investments in clean energy infrastructure, debt cancellation tied to climate action, and new models of trade that reward sustainability. Developing countries should continue pushing for and highlighting equity and climate and developmental justice considerations in the international trade and climate regimes. They should pursue trade agreements that protect their policy space for industrialization, allow green industrial policies, and promote fairer access to global markets. Environmental standards should be harmonized in ways that do not penalize developing countries based on capacity gaps.
- Enhancing the role of the state to focus on green industrialization and resilience: Rather than replicating the carbon-intensive paths of the past, countries in the Global South should invest in renewable energy, agroecology, and green industrialization pathways that can create jobs, reduce emissions, and build resilience.⁸⁹
- Enhanced South-South cooperation and coordination: Organizations like the Group of 77 and other developing country groups and coalitions should focus on their common interests to push for stronger, more unified demands in international negotiations. Unity increases bargaining power and helps shift the narrative from charity to rights and justice. Sharing

knowledge, technologies, and best practices among developing countries – especially around adaptation practices, technology development, and environmental governance – can build collective resilience and reduce dependency on developed countries. Regional climate funds, joint research initiatives, and technology transfer agreements can reduce dependence on the Global North. By consolidating their positions in international forums, developing countries can advocate more effectively for equitable climate policies and financial support.⁹⁰

In this context, the adoption and implementation by developing countries of strategic policy choices nationally and through enhanced international cooperation is essential, particularly in the following areas:

- Low-carbon industrialization through economic diversification and the building of domestic manufacturing capacity: Developing countries can pursue low-carbon industrialization by investing in renewable energy, energy efficiency, and sustainable infrastructure, and diversifying clean technology supply chains can enhance resilience and reduce dependence on a single country or region. Developing countries can leverage their natural resources and labour advantages to participate in global value chains, such as by processing critical minerals for battery production. Policies that shift focus from raw material exports to value-added production can help build domestic clean tech industries. Incentives for local manufacturing of batteries, solar panels, and wind turbines are key. 91
- **Regional value chains:** Developing countries could develop regional clean technology value chains that make the most of their natural and human resources in complementary ways. For instance, countries in Africa with abundant reserves of cobalt and lithium, essential for battery production, can partner with multinational corporations to establish local processing and manufacturing facilities.
- Green jobs and skills development: Transitioning to a green economy requires a skilled workforce. Developing countries can invest in education and vocational training programmes to equip workers with the skills needed for clean technology sectors. International partnerships, such as the International Labour Organization (ILO)'s Green Jobs Programme, can support these efforts.

- Social protection measures: The transition to a low-carbon economy must be inclusive and just. Developing countries should implement social protection measures, such as unemployment benefits and reskilling programmes, to support workers and communities affected by the shift away from fossil fuels.
- Access to climate finance: Developing countries require significant financial resources to implement climate action and clean technology projects. Multilateral development banks (MDBs) and climate funds, such as the Green Climate Fund (GCF), must scale up funding and simplify access procedures. Innovative financing mechanisms, such as green bonds and debt-for-climate swaps, can also mobilize resources. 92
- Equitable transfer of and access to climate technologies: Developing countries must have equitable access to climate technologies to achieve their development and climate goals. International cooperation frameworks and trade policies should prioritize technology transfer and capacity building. Developing countries can negotiate technology transfer agreements as part of international climate and trade agreements. For instance, the UNFCCC's Technology Mechanism facilitates the transfer of climate technologies to developing countries, supported by funding from developed countries.⁹³
- Reforming intellectual property rights (IPR) regimes: IPR regimes must strike a balance between incentivizing innovation and ensuring affordable access to climate technologies. At the international level, developing countries should advocate for fairer trade rules and challenge restrictive IPR regimes at forums like the WTO. Expanding South-South trade agreements can also help bypass Global North–imposed constraints. Developing countries can advocate for flexible IPR provisions in international agreements, such as compulsory licensing for essential climate technologies.⁹⁴
- Investment in domestic R&D: Governments must prioritize funding and other subsidies for local research institutions and forge South-South collaborations. Open-source patent pools and cooperative technology-sharing agreements can reduce the barriers created by intellectual property monopolies. By investing in domestic R&D, fostering local production, rethinking global trade rules, and democratizing access to finance, developing countries can begin to chart their own path towards clean, equitable, and sustainable development. 95

- Capacity building: Developing countries need support to build technical and institutional capacity for clean technology production. International organizations, such as the United Nations Industrial Development Organization (UNIDO), can provide training and resources to help countries integrate into global clean technology supply chains.
- **South-South cooperation:** Developing countries can strengthen collaboration through South-South cooperation initiatives, sharing knowledge, technology, and best practices, as well as coordination of their positions in multilateral climate and trade forums. In the trade area, developing countries could explore reviving and strengthening the Global System of Trade Preferences (GSTP); in the climate area, South-South cooperation initiatives on climate technology transfer, finance, and capacity building for climate action should be explored. 96
- Special and differential treatment (SDT): Developing countries must retain access to SDT provisions in trade agreements, which allow them flexibility to implement policies that support their development and climate goals. Such flexibility includes longer timelines for compliance with environmental standards, and access to financial and technical assistance.⁹⁷
- **Prohibition of trade protectionism on environmental grounds:** From the perspective of developing countries, trade measures are not necessarily the best nor the most appropriate means for addressing environmental concerns. Developing countries should push to explicitly prohibit unilateral trade measures taken on environmental grounds that would have an adverse impact on, or discriminate against, the trade of developing countries.⁹⁸

7 Conclusion

THE world faces a convergence of environmental, climate, and trade crises that expose and deepen longstanding global inequities. The intertwined challenges of environmental degradation, climate change, and trade dynamics underscore deep-seated inequities between developed and developing countries. These challenges are not merely technical – they are political and deeply rooted in historical injustice.

The global environmental crisis is not just ecological – it is deeply political and profoundly unequal. The trends, causes, and effects of environmental degradation expose systemic inequities between developed and developing countries shaped by centuries of exploitation and imbalance. If the international community is serious about sustainability, it must also be serious about justice. Without addressing these inequities, any action taken risks reproducing the very injustices it seeks to resolve. A fair and inclusive global response is not only a moral imperative – it is a practical necessity for the survival of both people and the planet, and it must confront historical responsibility, empower marginalized communities, and prioritize equity at every level of governance.

While developed countries must take the lead in cutting emissions and delivering on climate finance, developing countries cannot afford to wait. Through solidarity, cooperation, and bold leadership, the Global South can forge a new development path – one that prioritizes justice, sustainability, and sovereignty.

Developing countries have been consistent and clear in articulating the primacy and necessity of addressing and promoting their development options in both the trade and climate regimes. In trade, they have pushed for a

development-oriented multilateral trade regime. In the climate regime, developing countries have stressed that meeting development objectives would require, among others, a reflection of the principle of common but differentiated responsibilities with respect to reductions in greenhouse gas emissions (including for developed countries to fully implement their commitments in this area) and the implementation of existing commitments on technology transfer to developing countries. Developing countries have also continually stressed the need for development policy space, choices, and flexibilities, so as to ensure that international commitments and domestic policies are able to address in a flexible manner the unique set of development and environmental circumstances of each individual developing country. They have also stressed the need to improve supply-side productive capacity through financing support for the acquisition of technologies and the modernization of production in developing countries. In addition, they have called for technical assistance and capacity building, especially in terms of R&D, design and production, and infrastructure development to support a shift to cleaner, less carbon-intensive, and more equitable and sustainable production and consumption patterns in developing countries.⁹⁹

The international trade system is not a neutral arena of exchange but a reflection of global power structures that continue to privilege developed countries at the expense of developing ones. The persistence of structural inequalities – rooted in history, entrenched in institutions, and reinforced through unequal rules – demands urgent reform. Only through more inclusive, equitable, and development-centred trade policies can the international trade system fulfil its potential as a driver of shared prosperity.

Powerful industries and stakeholders vested in the status quo, such as the big corporate interests in the global fossil fuel and derivatives industry, are likely to resist the policy changes and economic changes that may be necessary for effective trade and climate action that supports sustainable development. Overcoming this resistance will require political will, public awareness, and policies that incentivize community-oriented innovation and adaptation.

Developing countries face disproportionate vulnerabilities to climate change and lack the resources to implement ambitious climate-aligned economic reforms. Addressing these disparities requires enhanced international support through finance, technology transfer, and capacity building. The mechanisms that have been set up under the UNFCCC and the Paris Agreement for the provision of climate finance, adaptation finance, loss and damage finance and technical assistance, technology development and transfer, capacity building, and to address just transition issues and the impacts of response measures need to be adequately resourced and supported.

The systemic linkages between international cooperation frameworks, trade policies, clean technology production and trade, financing mechanisms, and the right to development are critical to achieving a sustainable and equitable global future. Developing countries play a central role in shaping these dynamics, advocating for policies that support their development aspirations while contributing to global climate goals. By fostering international cooperation, aligning trade and climate policies, and mobilizing financing, the global community can ensure that the transition to a low-carbon economy is inclusive, just, and sustainable.

Linking international trade and climate policies requires that the systemic inequities that underlie these policy regimes be addressed, so that such linkages do not perpetuate inequity. To do so, the focus should be on creating systemic coherence between these policy regimes so that they become mutually supportive in promoting a systemic approach to reflecting equity and fostering the right to development of developing countries operating under these regimes.

The institutional separation between economic and environmental governance structures limits coordinated action. To address this, there must be a greater level of synergy and coherence between economic and climate agencies, at both the national and international levels, in terms of policy approaches and implementation. This is based on the recognition that economic policy impacts climate change responses and vice versa, such that ultimately economic and climate policies should be seen as separate sides of the same coin.

At the international level, greater coherence and synergy in terms of policy approach should be sought by developing countries through ensuring that their negotiating teams and policy positions in the trade and climate regimes are aligned; developing countries should also seek to develop greater levels

of coordination and cooperation with each other in order to push for their common positions.

Addressing these issues requires a concerted effort from developing countries to collaborate, advocate for fair policies, and implement sustainable development strategies. It requires a fundamental rethinking of how trade and climate policies and rules are designed and implemented. This includes developing countries gaining a greater voice in global decision-making (through, for example, coordinated and cooperative action), reforming subsidy and intellectual property regimes, ensuring that trade policies support rather than undermine national development strategies, supporting technology transfer to developing countries, and promoting economic diversification and just transitions. Additionally, more attention must be given to the social and environmental dimensions of trade and climate policy, ensuring equitable and sustainable development in developing countries is supported.

Endnotes

- The literal translation is "The old world is dying. The new one is slow to appear. And in this chiaroscuro monsters are born." The most oft-repeated translation is "The old is dying and the new cannot be born; in this interregnum a great variety of morbid symptoms appear." See A Gramsci, "Wave of Materialism" and "Crisis of Authority", in Q Hoare and G Nowell Smith (eds.), *Selections from the Prison Notebooks of Antonio Gramsci* (1971), p. 556, at https://uberty.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/gramsci-prison-notebooks.pdf
- See DJ Trump, Inaugural Address (20 January 2025), at https://www.whitehouse.gov/remarks/ 2025/01/the-inaugural-address/. This is also seen in US Secretary of State Marco Rubio's statement that "Every dollar we spend, every program we fund, and every policy we pursue must be justified with the answer to three simple questions: Does it make America safer? Does it make America stronger? Does it make America more prosperous?"; see T Nerozzi, Rubio announces State Department priorities: "Does it make America stronger?" (Washington Examiner, 22 January 2025), at https://www.washingtonexaminer.com/policy/foreign-policy/ 3296604/rubio-announces-state-department-priorities/
- See, e.g., L Angeles, Income inequality and colonialism (European Economic Review, vol. 51, iss. 5, July 2007), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S001429210600122X.
- World Inequality Lab, World Inequality Report 2022, at https://wir2022.wid.world/www-site/uploads/2023/03/D_FINAL_WIL_RIM_RAPPORT_2303.pdf
- 5 IMF, Cost of Living Crisis (2023), at https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/ar/2023/in-focus/cost-of-living-crisis/
- 6 UNCTAD, A World of Debt: Report 2024 (2024), at https://unctad.org/publication/world-of-debt
- See, e.g., Z Wu et al., The impacts of international trade on global greenhouse gas emissions: A thought experiment based on a novel no-trade analysis (*Journal of Environmental Management*, vol. 300, 15 December 2021), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301479721018983; N Baumert et al., Global outsourcing of carbon emissions 1995-2009: A reassessment (*Environmental Science and Policy*, vol. 92, February 2019), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1462901118307536
- JH Park, International trade agreements between countries of asymmetric size (*Journal of International Economics*, vol. 50, iss. 2, April 2000), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0022199699000069; MK Lewis, The Politics and Indirect Effects of Asymmetrical Bargaining Power in Free Trade Agreements (Cambridge University Press, 3 May 2011), at https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/abs/politics-of-international-economic-law/politics-and-indirect-effects-of-asymmetrical-bargaining-power-in-free-trade-agreements/ 2A2587DCEA78E51B1120D3301A86A54A
- See, e.g., EK Oke, *The Policy Space in International Intellectual Property Law* (April 2022), at https://www.researchgate.net/publication/360689745_The_Policy_Space_in_International_Intellectual_Property_Law; K Brandl et al., Foreign actors and intellectual property protection regulations in developing countries (*Journal of International Business Studies*, vol. 50, 2019), at https://link.springer.com/article/10.1057/s41267-018-0172-6; A Schmitz et al., Agricultural subsidies in developed countries: Impact on global welfare (*Review of Agricultural Economics*, vol. 28(3), February 2006), at https://www.researchgate.net/publication/4780960_Agricultural_Subsidies_in_Developed_Countries_Impact_on_Global_Welfare; M Bas, Back to sovereignty? Policy space in investor-State dispute settlement (*RBPI*, vol. 65(2), 2022), at https://www.redalyc.org/journal/358/35872854002/html/; D Gervais, Investor-State

- Dispute Settlement: Human Rights and Regulatory Lessons from "Lilly v. Canada" (Vanderbilt, 2018), at https://scholarship.law.vanderbilt.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2050&context=faculty-publications
- See, e.g., UNEP, Global Environment Outlook 6 (4 March 2019), at https://www.unep.org/resources/global-environment-outlook-6?v=2
- IPCC, AR6 Synthesis Report Climate Change 2023 (2023), at https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/syr/
- FAO, State of the World's Forests 2020 (2020), at https://www.fao.org/state-of-forests/en/
- H Ritchie, Deforestation and Forest Loss (Our World in Data, November 2024), at https://ourworldindata.org/deforestation; P Weston, Richest nations "exporting extinction" with demand for beef, palm oil and timber (*The Guardian*, 14 February 2025), at https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2025/feb/14/richest-nations-exporting-extinction-with-demand-for-beef-palm-oil-and-timber-aoe
- UNESCO, Imminent risk of a global water crisis, warns the UN World Water Development Report 2023 (20 February 2024), at https://www.unesco.org/en/articles/imminent-risk-global-water-crisis-warns-un-world-water-development-report-2023
- H Shemer et al., Challenges and Solutions for Global Water Scarcity (*Membranes (Basel*), vol. 13(6), 20 June 2023), at https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC10300917/; A du Plessis, Persistent degradation: Global water quality challenges and required actions (*One Earth*, vol. 5, iss. 2, 18 February 2022), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2590332222000434; D Pimentel et al., Water Resources: Agricultural and Environmental Issues (*BioScience*, vol. 54, iss. 10, October 2004), at https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2004)054[0909:WRAAEI]2.0.CO;2
- See, e.g., F Harvey, Women and girls suffer first when droughts hit poor and rural areas, says UN (*The Guardian*, 22 March 2024), at https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2024/mar/21/women-and-girls-suffer-first-when-droughts-hit-poor-and-rural-areas-says-un
- UN, UN Report: Nature's Dangerous Decline "Unprecedented"; Species Extinction Rates "Accelerating" (6 May 2019), at https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/blog/2019/05/nature-decline-unprecedented-report/
- G Corsi et al., Uneven development and core-periphery dynamics: A journey into the perspective of ecologically unequal exchange (*Environmental Science and Policy*, vol. 154, July 2024), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1462901124001126; K Fuentes-George, The Legacy of Colonialism on Contemporary Environmental Governance (*Georgetown Journal of International Affairs*, vol. 24(1), May 2023), at https://www.researchgate.net/publication/371173469_The_Legacy_of_Colonialism_on_Contemporary_Environmental_Governance; J Robinson and D Acemoglu, The economic impact of colonialism (CEPR VoxEU, 30 January 2017), at https://cepr.org/voxeu/columns/economic-impact-colonialism
- UN Women, *Progress on the Sustainable Development Goals: The Gender Snapshot 2023* (2023), at https://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2023/09/progress-on-the-sustainable-development-goals-the-gender-snapshot-2023
- See, e.g., A Stewart et al., Polarization under rising inequality and economic decline (Cornell University, 24 April 2020), at https://arxiv.org/abs/1807.11477
- M Warner et al., Demographic ageing: an opportunity to rethink economy, society and regions (Cambridge Journal of Regions, Economy and Society, vol. 18(1), March 2025), at https://academic.oup.com/cjres/article/18/1/79/7848824?login=false; J Duminy et al., Demographic change and urban health: Towards a novel agenda for delivering sustainable and healthy cities for all (December 2023), at https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC10905150/

- See, e.g., UN, World Economic Situation and Prospects 2021 (2021), at https://www.un.org/development/desa/dpad/wp-content/uploads/sites/45/WESP2021_FullReport.pdf; UN, World Social Report 2020 Inequality in a Rapidly Changing World (2020), at https://www.un.org/development/desa/dspd/wp-content/uploads/sites/22/2020/02/World-Social-Report2020-FullReport.pdf; UN, World Social Report 2024 (2024), at https://www.un.org/development/desa/dpad/publication/world-social-report-2024/
- UN, Secretary-General's remarks at the General Assembly High-level Dialogue on Financing for Development (20 September 2023), at https://www.un.org/sg/en/content/sg/speeches/2023-09-20/secretary-generals-remarks-the-general-assembly-high-level-dialogue-financing-fordevelopment
- UNDP, Building blocks out of the crisis: The UN's SDG Stimulus Plan (22 February 2023), at https://www.undp.org/publications/dfs-building-blocks-out-crisis-uns-sdg-stimulus-plan
- UNCTAD, Trade and Development Report 2022 (2022), at https://unctad.org/system/files/ official-document/tdr2022_en.pdf
- UNFCCC, First Needs Determination Report (2022), at https://unfccc.int/topics/climate-finance/workstreams/determination-of-the-needs-of-developing-country-parties/first-report-on-the-determination-of-the-needs-of-developing-country-parties-related-to-implementing; UNFCCC, Fifth Biennial Assessment and Overview of Climate Finance Flows (2022), at https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/J0156_UNFCCC%20BA5_2022_Report_v4%5 B52%5D.pdf
- See, e.g., EESI, Fossil Fuel Subsidies: A Closer Look at Tax Breaks and Societal Costs (2019), at https://www.eesi.org/papers/view/fact-sheet-fossil-fuel-subsidies-a-closer-look-at-tax-breaks-and-societal-costs
- See, e.g., B Coeure, Monetary policy and climate change (9 November 2018), at https://www.bis.org/review/r181109f.htm
- See, e.g., C Brunetti et al., Climate Change and Financial Stability (FEDS Notes, 19 March 2021), at https://www.federalreserve.gov/econres/notes/feds-notes/climate-change-and-financial-stability-20210319.html; A Jegarasasingam, Climate-aware investing (BIS Papers No. 155, March 2025), at https://www.bis.org/publ/bppdf/bispap155.pdf
- See, e.g., M Shahid Alam, Colonialism and Industrialization: Empirical Results (1998), at https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/37866/1/MPRA_paper_37866.pdf; G Bhambra, Colonial global economy: towards a theoretical reorientation of political economy (20 October 2020), at https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09692290.2020.1830831#abstract; J Robinson and D Acemoglu, The economic impact of colonialism (30 January 2017), at https://cepr.org/voxeu/columns/economic-impact-colonialism
- See, e.g., J Hickel et al., Imperialist appropriation in the world economy: Drain from the global South through unequal exchange, 1990-2015 (*Global Environmental Change*, vol. 73, March 2022), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S095937802200005X
- L Chancel et al., Climate Inequality Report 2023 (2023), at https://wid.world/www-site/uploads/2023/01/CBV2023-ClimateInequalityReport-2.pdf; L Chancel, Global carbon inequality over 1990-2019 (Nature Sustainability, vol. 5, 2022), at https://www.nature.com/articles/s41893-022-00955-z; R Tongia, It is unfair to push poor countries to reach zero carbon emissions too early (26 October 2022), at https://www.brookings.edu/articles/it-is-unfair-to-push-poor-countries-to-reach-zero-carbon-emissions-too-early/; IPCC, Working Group III Report, Chapter 2 Emissions Trends and Drivers (2022), at https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGIII_Chapter02.pdf; N Singh, Climate Justice in the Global South: Understanding the Environmental Legacy of Colonialism (2 February 2023), at https://www.e-ir.info/2023/02/02/climate-justice-in-the-global-south-understanding-the-environmental-legacy-of-colonialism/; R Siddiqui, Towards Climate Justice: Unmasking

- Climate Colonialism and the Hidden Costs of Green Capitalism (Modern Diplomacy, 26 September 2023), at https://moderndiplomacy.eu/2023/09/26/towards-climate-justice-unmasking-climate-colonialism-and-the-hidden-costs-of-green-capitalism/
- See, e.g., VP Yu, Addressing the Climate Technology Gap Through Effective Technology Transfer (TESS Policy Brief, 13 December 2023), at https://tessforum.org/latest/addressing-the-climate-technology-gap-through-effective-technology-transfer; UN, Independent Experts Summary Delivering on the \$100 billion climate finance commitment and transforming climate finance (2021), at https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/climate_finance_report.pdf; A Garric and R Weikmans, COP29: "Supporting the fight against climate change in the global South is not one of the North's priorities" (*Le Monde*, 11 November 2024), at https://www.lemonde.fr/en/environment/article/2024/11/11/cop29-supporting-the-fight-against-climate-change-in-the-global-south-is-not-one-of-the-north-s-priorities_6732426_114.html
- See, e.g., UNFCCC, Online Guide Loss and Damage (March 2024), at https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/loss_and_damage_online_guide.pdf; E Boyd et al., Loss and damage from climate change: A new climate justice agenda (*One Earth*, vol. 4, iss. 10, 22 October 2021), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2590332221005376; C Boda et al., Loss and damage from climate change and implicit assumptions of sustainable development (*Climatic Change*, vol. 164(13), 23 January 2021), at https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10584-021-02970-z
- N Diffenbaugh and M Burke, Global warming has increased global economic inequality (*Proceedings of the National Academic of Sciences USA*, vol. 116(20), 22 April 2019), at https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC6525504/
- See, e.g., UNEP, Adaptation Gap Report 2023 (2023), at https://www.unep.org/resources/adaptation-gap-report-2023
- I Vasic-Lalovic and L Merling, The Growing Debt Burdens of Global South Countries: Standing in the Way of Climate and Development Goals (CEPR, 12 October 2023), at https://cepr.net/publications/the-growing-debt-burdens-of-global-south-countries-standing-in-the-way-of-climate-and-development-goals/; H Fuje et al., Fiscal Impacts of Climate Disasters in Emerging Markets and Developing Economies (IMF, 15 December 2023), at https://www.elibrary.imf.org/view/journals/001/2023/261/article-A001-en.xml
- LM de la Mora, Balancing investment and trade to address climate challenges (UNCTAD, 14 November 2024), at https://unctad.org/news/blog-balancing-investment-and-trade-address-climate-challenges; UNFCCC, From Billions to Trillions: Setting a New Goal on Climate Finance (29 April 2024), at https://unfccc.int/news/from-billions-to-trillions-setting-a-new-goal-on-climate-finance
- See, e.g., CH Alvarez and CR Evans, Intersectional environmental justice and population health inequalities: A novel approach (*Social Science and Medicine*, vol. 269, January 2021), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0277953620307784; RA Sanchez Rodriguez and LR Fernandez Carril, Climate-resilient development in developing countries (*Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, vol. 66, February 2024), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1877343523001380
- E Perot, Technology transfer, climate change and the developing countries: the difficulties posed by green patents (*Journal of Intellectual Property Law and Practice*, vol. 18, iss. 5, May 2023), at https://academic.oup.com/jiplp/article-abstract/18/5/397/7160514?redirectedFrom=fulltext&login=false; VP Yu, Addressing the Climate Technology Gap Through Effective Technology Transfer (TESS Policy Brief, 13 December 2023), at https://tessforum.org/latest/addressing-the-climate-technology-gap-through-effective-technology-transfer; S Shashikant and M Khor, *Intellectual Property and Technology Transfer*

Issues in the Context of Climate Change (TWN IPR Series 14, 2010), at https://www.twn.my/title2/IPR/pdf/ipr14.pdf; M Khor, Climate Change, Technology and Intellectual Property Rights: Context and Recent Negotiations (South Centre Research Paper 45, April 2012), at https://www.southcentre.int/wp-content/uploads/2013/05/RP45_Climate-Change-Technology-and-IP_EN.pdf

41

See, e.g., D Wang and Y Fang, Global climate governance leadership: Current status, measurement and improvement paths (*Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 434, 1 January 2024), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652623037770; R Sapiains et al., Exploring the contours of climate governance: An interdisciplinary systematic literature review from a southern perspective (*Environmental Policy and Governance*, vol. 31(7), September 2020), at https://www.researchgate.net/publication/345371289_Exploring_the_contours_of_climate_governance_An_interdisciplinary_systematic_literature_review_from _a_southern_perspective; D Wang and Y Fang, Global climate governance inequality unveiled through dynamic influence assessment (*NPJ Climate Action*, vol. 3, 2024), at https://www.nature.com/articles/s44168-024-00159-5; L Merling and T Forster, Climate policy at the International Monetary Fund: No voice for the vulnerable? (*Global Policy*, 13 June 2024), at https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/1758-5899.13367; S Fasting et al., Climate Governance and Agriculture in Southeast Asia: Learning From a Polycentric Approach (*Frontiers in Political Science*, vol. 3, 20 August 2021), at https://www.frontiersin.org/journals/political-science/articles/10.3389/fpos.2021.698431/full

This withdrawal will legally take effect in February 2026, though Trump's executive order stated that "The United States will consider its withdrawal from the Agreement and any attendant obligations to be effective immediately." See White House, Presidential Actions – Putting America First in International Environmental Agreements (20 January 2025), at https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/2025/01/putting-america-first-in-international-environmental-agreements/. This is the second time that President Trump withdrew the US from the Paris Agreement. During his first term, the withdrawal took effect in November 2020, but President Joe Biden re-entered the US into the Agreement when he took office in January 2021, which then took effect in April 2021. As that period from November 2020 to April 2021 coincided with the COVID-19 pandemic, no UNFCCC negotiations took place during the time that the US was not a Party to the Paris Agreement. By the time the UNFCCC negotiations resumed in late 2021, the US was again a Party.

See, e.g., E Thomas, Which governments are backpedalling on climate commitments? (Energy Monitor, 21 August 2024), at https://www.energymonitor.ai/features/governments-are-backpedalling-on-climate-commitments-who-are-the-culprits/; A Bassett, Countries are rolling back their climate commitments (This Week in Climate, 7 October 2024), at https://climatebase.org/blog/countries-are-rolling-back-their-climate-commitments; IIED, Only 13 countries submitted 2035 climate targets on time (11 February 2025), at https://www.iied.org/only-13-countries-submitted-2035-climate-targets-time; J Lo, Rich nations ignore polluting past to claim plans are 1.5C-compatible (Climate Home News, 12 March 2025), at https://www.climatechangenews.com/2025/03/12/rich-nations-ignore-polluting-past-to-claim-climate-plans-are-1-5c-compatible/; Climate Action Network, Betrayal in Baku: Developed Countries Fail People and Planet (23 November 2024), at https://climatenetwork.org/2024/11/23/cop29_betrayal_in_baku/; S Illius, Rich nations backtrack on climate pledges, vulnerable countries cling to hope (The Business Standard, 8 November 2021), at https://earthjournalism.net/stories/rich-nations-backtrack-on-climate-pledges-vulnerable-countries-cling-to-hope

See, e.g., J Hickel at al., Imperialist appropriation in the world economy: Drain from the global South through unequal exchange, 1990-2015 (*Global Environmental Change*, vol.

- 73, March 2022), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S095937802200005X; J Infante-Amate and F Krausmann, Trade, Ecologically Unequal Exchange and Colonial Legacy: The Case of France and Its Former Colonies (1962-2015) (*Ecological Economics*, vol. 156, February 2019), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0921800918303197
- 45 See, e.g., Third World Network, The Multilateral Trading System: A Development Perspective (December 2001), at https://martinkhor.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/The-Multilateral-Trading-System-A-Development-Perspective.pdf; F Ismail, Reforming the World Trade Organization: Developing Countries in the Doha Round (FES and CUTS International, 2009), at https://library.fes.de/pdf-files/bueros/genf/06877.pdf; R Rena, Impact of WTO Policies on Developing Countries: Issues and Perspectives (Transnational Corporations Review, vol. 4, iss. 3, September 2012), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1925209924004200; M Busse et al., Trade liberalization and manufacturing employment in developing countries (Structural Change and Economic Dynamics, vol. 70, September 2024), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0954349X24000584; S Al-Islam Algadhafi, Reforming the WTO: Toward More Democratic Governance and Decision-Making (undated), at https://www.wto.org/english/forums_e/ngo_e/posp67_gaddafi_found_e.pdf; J Smith, Inequality in International Trade? Developing Countries and Institutional Change in WTO Dispute Settlement (Review of International Political Economy, vol. 11(3), August 2004), at https://www.jstor.org/stable/4177510; T Bernhardt, North-South Imbalances in the International Trade Regime: Why the WTO Does Not Benefit Developing Countries As Much As It Could (Journal of Sustainable Development, vol. 6, iss. 1, 2011), at https:// papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2147834
 - See, e.g., M Khor, Access to Medicines and the Right to Health and Life (South Centre, February 2015), at https://www.southcentre.int/question/access-to-medicines-and-the-rightto-health-and-life/; B Tenni et al., What is the impact of intellectual property rules on access to medicines? A systematic review (Globalization and Health, vol. 18, 2022), at https:// globalizationandhealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12992-022-00826-4; M Khor, Climate Change, Technology and Intellectual Property Rights: Context and Recent Negotiations (South Centre Research Paper 45, April 2012), at https://www.southcentre.int/wp-content/ uploads/2013/05/RP45_Climate-Change-Technology-and-IP_EN.pdf; M Rimmer, Environmental Technologies, Intellectual Property and Climate Change (2013) edited by Abbe Brown - a Review (Medium, 24 July 2014), at https://medium.com/@DrRimmer/ 8d39333c3de; A Brown (ed.), Environmental Technologies, Intellectual Property and Climate Change (Elgar, 2013), at https://www.e-elgar.com/shop/gbp/environmental-technologiesintellectual-property-and-climate-change-9780857934178.html; S Shashikant and M Khor, Intellectual Property Rights and Technology Transfer Issues in the Context of Climate Change (TWN, 2010), at https://www.twn.my/title2/IPR/pdf/ipr14.pdf; S Shashikant, Background Paper for World Economic and Social Survey 2009 - Intellectual Property Rights and Technology Transfer Issues in the Context of Climate Change (2009), at https://www.un.org/ development/desa/dpad/wp-content/uploads/sites/45/PDFs/WESS/wess_bg_papers/ bp_wess2009_shashikant.pdf; VP Yu, Technology Transfer to Support Just Transitions Towards Sustainable Development in Developing Countries (TWN Climate Change Series No. 8, 2024), at https://twn.my/title2/climate/series/cc08.pdf
- See, e.g., M Khor, Rethinking Liberalisation and Reshaping the WTO (28 January 2000), at https://www.iatp.org/sites/default/files/Rethinking_Liberalisation_and_Reshaping_the_WT. htm; M Khor, Analysis of the Doha Negotiations and the Function of the World Trade Organization (South Centre Research Paper 30, May 2010), at https://martinkhor.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/RP30 Analysis-of-the-DOHA-negotiations-and-WTO EN.pdf; M

Khor, Impasse at the WTO: A Development Perspective (*Economic and Political Weekly*, vol. 41(45), November 2006), at https://www.jstor.org/stable/4418890; M Khor, Why the South is Getting a Raw Deal at the WTO (1999), at https://martinkhor.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/ 10/ifg-paper-on-wto.pdf; D Steger (ed.), Redesigning the World Trade Organization for the Twenty-first Century (CIGI, 2010), at https://www.cigionline.org/sites/default/files/ redesigning_the_world_trade_organization.pdf; A Kwa, Power Politics in the WTO (FGS, January 2003), at https://www.ecolomics-international.org/n_san_kwa_power_politics_in_the _wto.pdf; Z Drabek, Is the WTO terminally ill? Threats to the international trading system (Asia and the Global Economy, vol. 4, iss. 1, January 2024), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S2667111524000021; L Ryan-Collins, Power and Choice in International Trade: How power imbalances constrain the South's choices on free trade agreements, with a case study of Uruguay (LSE DESTIN Working Paper Series No. 09-97, March 2009), at https://www.lse.ac.uk/international-development/Assets/Documents/PDFs/Dissertation/ Prizewinning-Dissertations/PWD-2007/WP97.pdf; C Weinhardt, Emerging Powers in the World Trading System: Contestation of the Developing Country Status and the Reproduction of Inequalities (Global Society, vol. 34, 20 March 2020), at https://www.tandfonline.com/ doi/full/10.1080/13600826.2020.1739632; G Facchini et al., Trade imbalances and preferential trade agreements: An empirical investigation (CEPR VoxEU, 14 June 2021), at https://cepr.org/ voxeu/columns/trade-imbalances-and-preferential-trade-agreements-empirical-investigation; Y Stiller, Bargaining Power in a Globalized World: The Effect of Global Value Chains in Trade Negotiations (Business and Politics, 5 May 2023), at https://www.cambridge.org/core/ journals/business-and-politics/article/bargaining-power-in-a-globalized-world-the-effect-ofglobal-value-chains-in-trade-negotiations/0F4A8CCD29D347E032EF3592C90A1099; K Mohamadieh et al., Rethinking Global Economic Policy: Proposals on Resilience, Rights and Equity for the Global South (TWN, 2021), at https://twn.my/title2/books/pdf/ Rethinking%20Global%20Economic%20Policy.pdf; F Jawara, The cunning bully – EU bribery and arm-twisting at the WTO (September 2003), at https://archive.corporateeurope.org/ cunningbully/CunningBullyFULLPAPER.pdf; F Jawara and A Kwa, Behind the Scenes at the WTO: The Real World of International Trade Negotiations - The Lessons of Cancun (FGS, 2004), at https://archive.org/details/behindscenesatwt0000jawa

See, e.g., S Athreye et al., Intellectual property rights and the international transfer of climate change mitigating technologies (Research Policy, vol. 52, iss. 9, November 2023), at https:// /www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733323001038; VLex, Why Patents and Climate Change Just Don't Mix (14 April 2023), at https://vlex.com/blog/climate-lawtechnology; JS Veiga, Tackling climate change: a story (also) about intellectual property rights and technology transfers (Whatnext.law, 25 May 2023), at https://whatnext.law/en/2023/05/ 25/tackling-climate-change-a-story-also-about-intellectual-property-rights-and-technologytransfers-2/; LR Batista, The Intersection Between Intellectual Property, Public Health and Access to Climate-Related Technologies (South Centre Research Paper No. 188, 7 December 2023), at https://www.southcentre.int/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/RP188_The-Intersection-Between-Intellectual-Property-Public-Health-and-Access-to-Climate-Related-Technologies_EN.pdf; M Raman, Wide North-South divide over IPRs and climate technologies (TWN Info Service on Intellectual Property Issues, 15 June 2009), at https://twn.my/title2/ intellectual_property/info.service/2009/twn.ipr.info.090608.htm; M Khor, Note on Access to Technology, IPR and Climate Change (TWN Briefing Paper 1, May 2008), at https:// unfccc.int/resource/webcast/collections/SB28/downloads/ 080607_SB28_1_Martin%20Khor.pdf; N Nanda and N Srivastava, Facilitating Technology Transfer for Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation (TERI, 2008), at https:// www.teriin.org/projects/nfa/2008-2013/pdf/Facilitating Tech Transfer.pdf; D Ockwell et al.,

Intellectual property rights and low carbon technology transfer: Conflicting discourses of diffusion and development (*Global Environmental Change*, vol. 20, iss. 4, October 2010), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0959378010000385; A Goldar et al., Climate change and technology transfers: Barriers, technologies and mechanisms (ICRIER Working Paper 382, July 2019), at https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/203716/1/1669531791.pdf; S Kondarwar, Technology Transfer for Climate Change Mitigation: Mechanism, Issues and Challenges (2023), at https://www.hpnlu.ac.in/PDF/4adcc045-2c3f-4ad9-a7f5-66a08805c666.pdf

- See, e.g., R Webb, Protecting Intellectual Property While Mitigating Climate Change: Can We Do Both? (CCSI, 19 October 2016), at https://ccsi.columbia.edu/news/protecting-intellectual-property-while-mitigating-climate-change-can-we-do-both; M Ghodsi and Z Mousavi, Patents as green technology barometers: trends and disparities (WIIW, 27 November 2023), at https://wiiw.ac.at/patents-as-green-technology-barometers-trends-and-disparities-n-615.html; S Paul and T Mandal, Transfer of Environmentally Sound Technologies: Analysing the Challenges under the TRIPS Patent Regime (JFIEL, 29 February 2024), at https://jindalforinteconlaws.in/2024/02/29/transfer-of-environmentally-sound-technologies-analysing-the-challenges-under-the-trips-patent-regime/
- EPO and IEA, Patents and the energy transition Global trends in clean energy technology innovation (April 2021), at https://link.epo.org/web/patents_and_the_energy_transition_stu dy_en.pdf; Intepat, Patent Trends in Renewable Energy (14 April 2020), at https://www.intepat.com/blog/patent-trends-in-renewable-energy/; L Rivera Leon et al., Measuring innovation in energy technologies: green patents as captured by WIPO's IPC green inventory (WIPO Economic Research Working Paper 44, September 2018), at https://www.wipo.int/edocs/pubdocs/en/wipo_pub_econstat_wp_44.pdf; UNEP, Under One Per Cent of Clean Energy Technology Patents Filed in Africa, Highlight Huge Potential for Exploiting Renewable Sources (13 May 2013), at https://www.unep.org/news-and-stories/press-release/under-one-cent-clean-energy-technology-patents-filed-africa
- Amazon, Amazon is the world's largest corporate purchaser of renewable energy for the fourth year in a row (16 January 2024), at https://www.aboutamazon.com/news/sustainability/amazon-renewable-energy-portfolio-january-2024-update
- L Fernandez, Number of offshore wind farm projects under construction in Europe as of June 2024, by country (Statista, 21 August 2024), at https://www.statista.com/statistics/1488122/number-of-offshore-wind-farms-under-construction-europe-by-country/
- European Parliament, EU ban on the sale of new petrol and diesel cars from 2035 explained (3 November 2022), at https://www.europarl.europa.eu/topics/en/article/20221019STO44572/eu-ban-on-sale-of-new-petrol-and-diesel-cars-from-2035-explained
- Businesswire, Global Electric Medium and Heavy-Duty Truck Platforms OEM Strategy Report 2022 (19 December 2022), at https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20221219005342/en/Global-Electric-Medium—and-Heavy-Duty-Truck-Platforms-OEM-Strategy-Report-2022-Focus-on-Leading-OEMS—Daimler-Volvo-Traton-Paccar-BYD-Nikola-Hyzon—ResearchAndMarkets.com
- R Parkes, Japan launches first billion-yen tender under hydrogen hubs programme (Hydrogeninsight, 12 March 2025), at https://www.hydrogeninsight.com/industrial/japan-launches-first-billion-yen-tender-under-hydrogen-hubs-programme/2-1-1791662
- Saudi Gulf Projects, NEOM signed \$5 billion agreement for world's largest green hydrogen project (8 July 2020), at https://www.saudigulfprojects.com/2020/07/neom-signed-5-billionagreement-for-worlds-largest-green-hydrogen-project/
- P Wu, How funding and incentives under recent laws advance carbon capture technologies (Reuters, 25 March 2024), at https://www.reuters.com/legal/legalindustry/how-funding-incentives-under-recent-laws-advance-carbon-capture-technologies-2024-03-25/

- L Kearney, Google deploys AI to speed up connections at PJM, largest US power grid (Reuters, 10 April 2025), at https://www.reuters.com/technology/google-deploys-ai-speed-up-connections-pjm-largest-us-power-grid-2025-04-10/; IEA, Smart Grids (undated), at https://www.iea.org/energy-system/electricity/smart-grids; E Boskov-Kovacs, Europe's AI Revolution: How a EUR200 Billion Investment Could Transform Energy (BES, 14 February 2025), at https://www.blueprintenergy.at/post/europe-s-ai-revolution-how-a-200-billion-investment-could-transform-energy
- See, e.g., CLASP, Leveraging low-carbon global warming potential heat pumps to power climate action (12 March 2025), at https://www.clasp.ngo/updates/low-global-warmingpotential-heat-pumps/; IEA, Heat Pumps (undated), at https://www.iea.org/energy-system/ buildings/heat-pumps
- A Gupta, Investments in Gigafactories, coupled with Industry 5.0 Technologies, to Enable Lithium-Ion Battery Manufacturers to Keep Pace with Electric Vehicle Boom (Frost and Sullivan, 12 December 2023), at https://www.frost.com/growth-opportunity-news/mobility-automotive-transportation/investments-in-gigafactories/
- M Maisch, New sodium-ion developments from CATL, BYD, Huawei (PV Magazine, 28 November 2024), at https://www.pv-magazine.com/2024/11/28/new-sodium-ion-developments-from-catl-byd-huawei/
- S Huang, How the Inflation Reduction Act Is a Victory for US EV Battery Manufacturers (*Forbes*, 26 July 2023), at https://www.forbes.com/councils/forbestechcouncil/2023/07/26/how-the-inflation-reduction-act-is-a-victory-for-us-ev-battery-manufacturers/
- See, e.g., S Yuksel and JJ Mohr, Disrupting the Plate: Cultured Meat Technology (*CRM*, vol. 67, iss. 3, Spring 2024), at https://cmr.berkeley.edu/2023/07/disrupting-the-plate-cultured-meat-technology/; J Mylan et al., The big business of sustainable production and consumption: Exploring the transition to alternative proteins (*PNAS*, vol. 120(7), 13 November 2023), at https://www.pnas.org/doi/10.1073/pnas.2207782120
- See, e.g., L Doris, AI in Agriculture: Precision Farming, Crop Monitoring, and Sustainable Food Systems (March 2025), at https://www.researchgate.net/publication/390056648_AI_in_Agriculture_Precision_Farming_Crop_Monitoring_and_Sustainable_Food_Systems; N Aijaz et al., Artificial intelligence in agriculture: Advancing crop productivity and sustainability (*Journal of Agriculture and Food Research*, vol. 20, April 2025), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2666154325001334; AO Adewusi et al., AI in precision agriculture: A review of technologies for sustainable farming practices (*WJARR*, vol. 20(1), 2024), at https://wjarr.com/content/ai-precision-agriculture-review-technologies-sustainable-farming-practices
- See, e.g., V Strauss et al., Carbon farming for climate change mitigation and ecosystem services

 Potentials and influencing factors (*Journal of Environmental Management*, vol. 372,
 December 2024), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301479724032390;
 CT Barbarato and AL Strong, Farmer perspectives on carbon markets incentivizing agricultural soil carbon sequestration (*NPJ Climate Action*, 25 September 2023), at https://www.nature.com/articles/s44168-023-00055-4;
 HJ Buck and A Palumbo-Compton, Soil carbon sequestration as a climate strategy: what do farmers think? (*Biogeochemistry*, vol. 161, 30 August 2022), at https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10533-022-00948-2
- See, e.g., D Roy, China's Growing Influence in Latin America (CFR, 10 January 2025), at https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/china-influence-latin-america-argentina-brazil-venezuela-security-energy-bri; S Hawkins, Solar exports from China increase by a third (Ember, 14 September 2023), at https://ember-energy.org/latest-insights/china-solar-exports/; S Ezell, How Innovative Is China in the Electric Vehicle and Battery Industries? (ITIF, 29 July 2024), at https://itif.org/publications/2024/07/29/how-innovative-is-china-in-the-electric-vehicle-and-

battery-industries/; M McBride, Catching Up or Leaping Ahead? How Energy Innovation Can Secure US Industrial Stature in a Net-Zero World (CEIP, 19 September 2024), at https://carnegieendowment.org/research/2024/09/energy-innovation-us-industrial-stature?lang=en; L Bian et al., China's role in accelerating the global energy transition through green supply chains and trade (Grantham Research Institute and LSE, February 2024), at https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/Chinas-role-in-accelerating-the-global-energy-transition-through-green-supply-chains-and-trade.pdf

- L Myllyvirta et al., Analysis: Clean energy contributed a record 10% of China's GDP in 2024 (CREA, 19 February 2025), at https://energyandcleanair.org/analysis-clean-energy-contributed-a-record-10-of-chinas-gdp-in-2024/
- CH Jaynes, China's EV Industry Ranks First Globally in Sales, Production for 10th Year in a Row (EcoWatch, 24 January 2025), at https://www.ecowatch.com/china-ev-industry-production-sales.html
- See, e.g., P Day, Chile leads Latin American push to clean hydrogen (Reuters, 22 October 2024), at https://www.reuters.com/business/energy/chile-leads-latin-american-push-clean-hydrogen-2024-10-22/; World Bank, Chile to Accelerate Its Green Hydrogen Industry with World Bank Support (29 June 2023), at https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2023/06/29/chile-to-accelerate-its-green-hydrogen-industry-with-world-bank-support; D Proctor, Solar Power Leads Buildout of India's Renewable Energy (Power, undated), at https://www.powermag.com/solar-power-leads-buildout-of-indias-renewable-energy/; NR Sethuraman, India to add record renewables this year as green push gains momentum (Reuters, 17 September 2024), at https://www.reuters.com/business/energy/india-gets-386-bln-financial-commitment-expand-renewable-capacity-2024-09-16/; IEA, India World Energy Investment 2024 (IEA, 2024), at https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-investment-2024/india
- See, e.g., U Hege et al., Climate Patents and Financial Markets (ECGI Finance Working Paper No. 961/2024, February 2024), at https://www.ecgi.global/sites/default/files/working_papers/documents/climatepatentsandfinancialmarkets.pdf; S Athreye et al., Intellectual property rights and the international transfer of climate change mitigating technologies (*Research Policy*, vol. 52, iss. 9, November 2023), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733323001038; JJ Su et al., Making intellectual property rights work for climate technology transfer and innovation in developing countries (23 August 2024), at https://arxiv.org/pdf/2408.12338
- See, e.g., S Saran and D Quah, The Only Way to Make Climate Progress (ORF, 18 January 2024), at https://www.orfonline.org/research/the-only-way-to-make-climate-progress
- REN21, Renewables 2024 Global Status Report Renewables in Energy Supply (REN21, 2024), at https://www.ren21.net/gsr-2024/modules/energy_supply/01_global_trends/03_investment_and_finance/; T D'Olier-Lees et al., Renewable Energy Funding in 2023: A "Capital Transition" Unleashed (S&P Global, 14 September 2023), at https://www.spglobal.com/en/research-insights/special-reports/renewable-energy-funding-in-2023-a-capital-transition-unleashed; BNEF, Energy Transition Investment Trends 2024 (BNEF, 30 January 2024), at https://assets.bbhub.io/professional/sites/24/Energy-Transition-Investment-Trends-2024.pdf; BNEF, Energy Transition Investment Trends 2025 (BNEF, 30 January 2025), at https://assets.bbhub.io/professional/sites/24/951623_BNEF-Energy-Transition-Trends-2025-Abridged.pdf
- A Shah, The Climate Tech Investment Landscape A Deep Dive (Jefferies, 1 April 2024), at https://www.jefferies.com/insights/sustainability-and-culture/the-climate-tech-investment-landscape-a-deep-dive/; M Ma, Climate tech financing slumps as investors prioritize AI (Bloomberg, 30 January 2025), at https://www.investmentnews.com/industry-news/climate-tech-funding-slumps-as-investors-prioritize-ai/259120; EPRS, Private financing of innovation

in the EU (EPRS Briefing Paper, March 2025), at https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2025/769516/EPRS_BRI%282025%29769516_EN.pdf; EU, R&D expenditure statistics explained (undated), at https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=R%26D_expenditure; NSF, Research and Development: US Trends and International Comparisons (undated), at https://ncses.nsf.gov/pubs/nsb20225; S Jessop, BlackRock-backed Decarbonization Partners raises \$1.4 bln for first fund (Reuters, 25 April 2024), at https://www.reuters.com/business/blackrock-backed-decarbonization-partners-raises-14-bln-first-fund-2024-04-25/; E Cox et al., State of Climate Tech 2024 – Seeking an edge as deal-making slows (PWC, 3 December 2024), at https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/issues/esg/climate-tech-investment-adaptation-ai.html

- W Shi, Flying High: China's SOEs are growing in prominence in its economy (CKGSB Knowledge, 24 October 2024), at https://english.ckgsb.edu.cn/knowledge/article/flying-high-chinas-soes-are-growing-in-prominence-in-its-economy/; News Desk, Chinese firms "using state support" to dominate US utility battery market, DHS warns (*The Express Tribune*, 22 October 2024), at https://tribune.com.pk/story/2504497/chinese-firms-using-state-support-to-dominate-us-utility-battery-market-dhs-warns; Reuters, China's CATL pushes beyond batteries into power grids, EV platforms (Reuters, 13 November 2024), at https://www.reuters.com/business/autos-transportation/chinese-giant-catl-pushes-beyond-batteries-into-power-grids-ev-platforms-2024-11-13/
- See, e.g., Fuel Cells Works, UAE, Saudi Arabia Lead Arab Investments in Green Hydrogen (FCW, 7 October 2024), at https://fuelcellsworks.com/2024/10/07/green-investment/uae-saudiarabia-lead-arab-investments-in-green-hydrogen; Y Aziz, The Gulf goes green, balancing oil legacy with ambitious sustainability goals (OMFIF, 4 March 2025), at https://www.omfif.org/2025/03/the-gulf-goes-green-balancing-oil-legacy-with-ambitious-sustainability-goals/; M Al-Kinani, Saudi Aramco unveils direct air capture tech to reduce emissions (Arab News, 20 March 2025), at https://www.arabnews.com/node/2594246/business-economy; News Desk, Saudi Arabia plans multi-billion green hydrogen project (Offshore Techology, 8 October 2024), at https://www.offshore-technology.com/news/saudi-arabia-green-hydrogen-venture/?cf-view; Semafor, Saudi's hydrogen push (Semafor, 9 October 2024), at https://www.semafor.com/newsletter/10/09/2024/semafor-gulf-abu-dhabis-trillions
- 76 See, e.g., M Demertzis and L Guetta-Jeanrenaud, Venture capital: a new breath of life for European entrepreneurship? (Bruegel, 10 February 2022), at https://www.bruegel.org/blogpost/venture-capital-new-breath-life-european-entrepreneurship; S Pantea, Venture capital and high-tech start ups in Europe: a systematic review of the empirical evidence (Venture Capital, 14 2024), https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/ February 13691066.2024.2315069; IMF, How can the European Venture Capital Industry Catch Up with the US? IMF Report Summary (Contextual Solutions, 29 August 2024), at https:// www.contextualsolutions.de/blog/how-can-the-european-venture-capital-industry-catch-upwith-the-us; Clay, How Much Did Climeworks Raise? Funding and Key Investors (Clay, 25 March 2025), at https://www.clay.com/dossier/climeworks-funding; N Arnold et al., Stepping Up Venture Capital to Finance Innovation in Europe (IMF, 12 July 2024), at https:// www.elibrary.imf.org/view/journals/001/2024/146/article-A001-en.xml
- See, e.g., AH Olabi et al., Renewable energy systems: Comparisons, challenges and barriers, sustainability indicators, and the contribution to UN sustainable development goals (*International Journal of Thermofluids*, vol. 20, November 2023), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2666202723002136; PM Falcone, Sustainable Energy Policies in Developing Countries: A Review of Challenges and Opportunities (*Energies*, vol. 16(18), 18 September 2023), at https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/16/18/6682; M Mustafa et al., Barriers to Solar PV Adoption in Developing Countries: Multiple Regression and

Analytical Hierarchy Process Approach (*Sustainability*, vol. 16(3), 25 January 2024), at https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/16/3/1032; E Thomson, Here are 3 innovative ways to manage the challenge of financing the energy transition in developing economies (WEF, 23 August 2023), at https://www.weforum.org/stories/2023/08/financing-energy-transition-developing-economies/; Seetharaman et al., Breaking barriers in deployment of renewable energy (*Heliyon*, vol. 5(1), 26 January 2019), at https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC6351575/; OE Ewere et al., A Systematic Review of Barriers to Renewable Energy Integration and Adoption (*Journal of Asian Energy Studies*, vol. 9, January 2025), at https://www.researchgate.net/publication/388372445_A_Systematic_Review_of_Barriers_to_Renewable_Energy_Integration_and_Adoption See, e.g., S Weko and A Goldthau, Bridging the low-carbon technology gap? Assessing energy initiatives for the Global South (*Energy Policy*, vol. 169, October 2022), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421522004128

78

IEA, Energy Technology Perspectives 2023: Clean energy supply chain vulnerabilities (2023), at https://www.iea.org/reports/energy-technology-perspectives-2023/clean-energy-supplychains-vulnerabilities; B Lei et al., China's role in accelerating the global energy transition through green supply chains and trade (Grantham Research Institute and LSE, 2024), at https:/ /www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/Chinas-role-in-acceleratingthe-global-energy-transition-through-green-supply-chains-and-trade.pdf; A Yu et al., China continues to lead the world in wind and solar, with twice as much capacity under construction as the rest of the world combined (Global Energy Monitor, July 2024), at https:// globalenergymonitor.org/report/china-continues-to-lead-the-world-in-wind-and-solar-withtwice-as-much-capacity-under-construction-as-the-rest-of-the-world-combined/; BY Chan, How China is helping power the world's green transition (WEF, 17 January 2025), at https:/ /www.weforum.org/stories/2025/01/why-china-matters-to-the-worlds-green-transition/; B Wray, China and the geopolitics of the green transition (TNI, 4 February 2025), at https:// www.tni.org/en/article/china-and-the-geopolitics-of-the-green-transition; C Shepherd and J Li, How China came to dominate the world in renewable energy (The Washington Post, 3 March 2025), at https://www.washingtonpost.com/climate-solutions/2025/03/03/chinarenewable-energy-green-world-leader/; X You, The "new three": How China came to lead solar cell, lithium battery and EV manufacturing (Dialogue Earth, 7 November 2023), at https://dialogue.earth/en/business/new-three-china-solar-cell-lithium-battery-ev/; V Ferraris and T Ellis, Energy Transition: How Will the US and Europe Respond to China's Clean-Tech Leadership? (S&P Global, 4 December 2024), at https://www.spglobal.com/ratings/en/ research/articles/241204-energy-transition-how-will-the-u-s-and-europe-respond-to-china-sclean-tech-leadership-13343637

World Bank, Cobalt in the Democratic Republic of Congo (June 2021), at https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/099500001312236438/pdf/P1723770a0f570093092050c1bddd6a29df.pdf; A Gulley, China, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, and artisanal cobalt mining from 2000 through 2020 (*PNAS*, vol. 120(26), 20 June 2023), at https://www.pnas.org/doi/10.1073/pnas.2212037120; D Quiggin and R King, Cobalt refining power gives China an advantage in the race for EV battery dominance (Resource Trade Earth, 4 July 2023), at https://resourcetrade.earth/publications/critical-metals-ev-batteries; F Gregory, China in the Democratic Republic of the Congo: A New Dynamic in Critical Mineral Procurement (FAI, 18 October 2024), at https://www.thefai.org/posts/china-in-the-democratic-republic-of-the-congo-a-new-dynamic-in-critical-mineral-procurement; C Nugent, What would happen if South America formed an OPEC for lithium (*Time*, 28 April 2023), at https://time.com/6275197/south-america-lithium-opec/; C Magri, A Journey Through Chile's Lithium Landscape (CGC, 30 November 2023), at https://globalcenters.columbia.edu/news/journey-through-chiles-lithium-landscape; A Gulley et al., China's domestic and foreign

- influence in the global cobalt supply chain (*Resources Policy*, vol. 62, August 2019), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301420718303490
- W Shi, Flying High: China's SOEs are growing in prominence in its economy (CKGSB, 24 October 2024), at https://english.ckgsb.edu.cn/knowledge/article/flying-high-chinas-soes-are-growing-in-prominence-in-its-economy/; N Salike et al., Making of an innovative economy: a study of diversity of Chinese enterprise innovation (*CFRI*, vol. 496, 18 June 2021), at https://www.acem.sjtu.edu.cn/ueditor/jsp/upload/file/20230705/1688558895773021636.pdf; P Nolan and X Wang, Beyond privatization: Institutional innovation and growth in China's large state-owned enterprises (*World Development*, vol. 27, iss. 1, January 1999), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0305750X98001326; E O'Rear et al., Quantifying Federal Investments in Advancing Energy Innovation (Rhodium Group, 26 March 2025), at https://rhg.com/research/federal-investments-in-energy-innovation/
- M Ghodsi and Z Mousavi, Patents as green technology barometers: trends and disparities (WIIW, 27 November 2023), at https://wiiw.ac.at/patents-as-green-technology-barometers-trends-and-disparities-n-615.html
- M Ghodsi and Z Mousavi, Patents as green technology barometers: trends and disparities (WIIW, 27 November 2023), at https://wiiw.ac.at/patents-as-green-technology-barometers-trends-and-disparities-n-615.html; M Khor, Climate Change, Technology and Intellectual Property Rights: Context and Recent Negotiations (South Centre Climate Policy Brief No. 15, November 2014), at https://www.southcentre.int/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/CPB15_Climate-Change-Technology-and-IPRs_EN.pdf; R Webb, Protecting Intellectual Property While Mitigating Climate Change: Can We Do Both (CCSI, 19 October 2016), at https://ccsi.columbia.edu/news/protecting-intellectual-property-while-mitigating-climate-change-can-we-do-both?
- See, e.g., OpenDemocracy, Borders and Belonging: does brain drain hurt the Global South? (5 April 2023), at https://www.opendemocracy.net/en/podcasts/podcast-borders-belonging/ migration-talent-global-south-brain-drain/?utm_source=chatgpt.com; B Khakhuk et al., Cause and Consequences of the Migration of Scientists and Students from the Brics Countries to Developed Economies (Electronic Journal of Knowledge Management, vol. 19(3), January 2022), at https://www.researchgate.net/publication/357786420_Causes_and_Consequences_ of_the_Migration_of_Scientists_and_Students_from_the_Brics_Countries_to_Developed_ Economies; M Clemens, What do we know about skilled migration and development? (MPI Policy Brief 3, September 2013), at https://www.migrationpolicy.org/sites/default/files/ publications/SkilledMigration-Development.pdf; BL Lowell and A Findlay, Migration of Highly Skilled Persons from Developing Countries: Impact and Policy Responses (ILO International Migration Papers 44, December 2001), at https://www.ilo.org/sites/default/files/ wcmsp5/groups/public/%40ed_protect/%40protrav/%40migrant/documents/publication/ wcms_201706.pdf; F Docquier and H Rapoport, Skilled Migration: The Perspective of Developing Countries (IZA DP No. 2873, June 2007), at https://docs.iza.org/dp2873.pdf; F Docquier, The brain drain from developing countries (IZA World of Labor, 2014), at https:// wol.iza.org/uploads/articles/31/pdfs/brain-drain-from-developing-countries.pdf
- See, e.g., UNEP, EPO and ITSD, Patents and clean energy: bridging the gap between evidence and policy final report (2010), at https://www.greenpolicyplatform.org/sites/default/files/downloads/resource/Patents_%20 and_clean_energy%20-%20bridging_the_gap_between_evidence_and_policy_UNEP.pdf; M Yurevich et al., R&D synergy between local and foreign-owned enterprises in post-communist economies (*International Journal of Innovation Studies*, vol. 7, iss. 2, June 2023), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S209624872200056X; A Aggarwal, The Impact

of Foreign Ownership on Research and Development Intensity and Technology Acquisition in Indian Industries: Pre and Post Global Financial Crisis (*Asian Development Review*, vol. 35(1), 1 March 2018), at https://direct.mit.edu/adev/article/35/1/1/9935/The-Impact-of-Foreign-Ownership-on-Research-and

- 86 See, e.g., R Quitzow and Y Zabanova, Geoeconomics of the transition to net zero energy and industrial systems: A framework for analysis (Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, vol. 214, May 2025), at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1364032125001650; M Elkerbout et al., Climate and Trade in a World of Resurgent Industrial Policy (Resources, 7 October 2024), at https://www.resources.org/common-resources/climateand-trade-in-a-world-of-resurgent-industrial-policy/; M Lempriere, Experts: What are the biggest geopolitical risks to climate action in 2024? (CarbonBrief, 20 May 2024), at https:// www.carbonbrief.org/experts-what-are-the-biggest-geopolitical-risks-to-climate-action-in-2024/; I Shine, War, trade tensions, politics and economics: the global factors shaping our response to climate change (WEF, 14 October 2024), at https://www.weforum.org/stories/ 2024/10/geopolitics-climate-change-adani-group/; H Tran, The Geopolitics of Energy Transition: Opportunities for the Global South (Policy Center for the New South Policy Brief, November 2024), at https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/geopolitics-energy-transitionopportunities-global-south; B Allan, Regaining Geopolitical Advantage: How to Focus US Foreign Policy for Clean Energy (CEIP, 26 February 2025), at https://carnegieendowment.org/ research/2025/02/regaining-geopolitical-advantage-how-to-focus-us-foreign-policy-for-cleanenergy?lang=en; K Abnett, Trade demands clash with climate agenda at COP29 talks (Reuters, 21 November 2024), at https://www.reuters.com/sustainability/trade-demands-clash-withclimate-agenda-cop29-talks-2024-11-21/; S Moore, Geopolitics and the COP (CCS, 9 December 2024), at https://climateandsecurity.org/2024/12/geopolitics-and-the-cop/
- See, e.g., C Tymkiw, The Battle to Break China's Rare Earth Supply Chain Dominance (AreaDevelopment, Q4 2024), at https://www.areadevelopment.com/logisticsinfrastructure/q4-2024/the-battle-to-break-chinas-rare-earth-supply-chain-dominance.shtml; J Busby et al., China, Clean Technologies, and National Security (War on the Rocks, 2 October 2024), at https://warontherocks.com/2024/10/china-clean-technologies-and-national-security/; Steve, China's Rare Earth Dominance and What It Means for the World (Zimtu, 29 November 2024), at https://www.zimtu.com/chinas-rare-earth-dominance-and-what-it-means-for-the-world/; GIMBALS, Strategic Natural Resources and US National Security in a Resource-Hungry World (GIMBALS, 26 March 2025), at https://3gimbals.com/insights/strategic-natural-resources-and-u-s-national-security-in-a-resource-hungry-world/; Z Yang, US Government Says Relying on Chinese Lithium Batteries Is Too Risky (WIRED, 21 October 2024), at https://www.wired.com/story/us-government-says-relying-on-chinese-lithium-batteries-is-too-risky/
- UN, Declaration on the Right to Development (1986), at https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/declaration-right-development
- See, e.g., M Khor et al., Promoting Sustainable Development by Addressing the Impacts of Climate Change Response Measures on Developing Countries (South Centre Research Paper No. 81, November 2017), at https://www.southcentre.int/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/RP81_Promoting-Sustainable-Development-by-Addressing-the-Impacts-of-Climate-Change-Response-Measures-on-Developing-Countries_EN.pdf; VP Yu, *Green Deals and Implications for the Global South* (TWN Environment and Development Series No. 20, 2021), at https://twn.my/title/end/pdf/end20.pdf
- See, e.g., VP Yu, Economic Diversification from Oil Dependency: Practice and Lessons from Persian Gulf Oil-Dependent Developing Countries (TWN Climate Change Series No. 6, 2022), at https://www.twn.my/title2/climate/series/cc06.pdf

- See, e.g., M Khor et al., Promoting Sustainable Development by Addressing the Impacts of Climate Change Response Measures on Developing Countries (South Centre Research Paper No. 81, November 2017), at https://www.southcentre.int/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/RP81_Promoting-Sustainable-Development-by-Addressing-the-Impacts-of-Climate-Change-Response-Measures-on-Developing-Countries_EN.pdf; VP Yu, Economic Diversification from Oil Dependency: Practice and Lessons from Persian Gulf Oil-Dependent Developing Countries (TWN Climate Change Series No. 6, 2022), at https://www.twn.my/title2/climate/series/cc06.pdf; VP Yu, Green Deals and Implications for the Global South (TWN Environment and Development Series No. 20, 2021), at https://twn.my/title/end/pdf/end20.pdf; VP Yu, Technology Transfer to Support Just Transitions Towards Sustainable Development in Developing Countries (TWN Climate Change Series No. 8, 2024), at https://twn.my/title2/climate/series/cc08.pdf
- See, e.g., VP Yu, Economic Diversification from Oil Dependency: Practice and Lessons from Persian Gulf Oil-Dependent Developing Countries (TWN Climate Change Series No. 6, 2022), at https://www.twn.my/title2/climate/series/cc06.pdf; VP Yu, Green Deals and Implications for the Global South (TWN Environment and Development Series No. 20, 2021), at https://twn.my/title/end/pdf/end20.pdf
- See, e.g., M Khor et al., Promoting Sustainable Development by Addressing the Impacts of Climate Change Response Measures on Developing Countries (South Centre Research Paper No. 81, November 2017), at https://www.southcentre.int/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/RP81_Promoting-Sustainable-Development-by-Addressing-the-Impacts-of-Climate-Change-Response-Measures-on-Developing-Countries_EN.pdf; VP Yu, Economic Diversification from Oil Dependency: Practice and Lessons from Persian Gulf Oil-Dependent Developing Countries (TWN Climate Change Series No. 6, 2022), at https://www.twn.my/title2/climate/series/cc06.pdf; VP Yu, Green Deals and Implications for the Global South (TWN Environment and Development Series No. 20, 2021), at https://twn.my/title/end/pdf/end20.pdf; VP Yu, Technology Transfer to Support Just Transitions Towards Sustainable Development in Developing Countries (TWN Climate Change Series No. 8, 2024), at https://twn.my/title2/climate/series/cc08.pdf
- See, e.g., M Khor et al., Promoting Sustainable Development by Addressing the Impacts of Climate Change Response Measures on Developing Countries (South Centre Research Paper No. 81, November 2017), at https://www.southcentre.int/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/RP81_Promoting-Sustainable-Development-by-Addressing-the-Impacts-of-Climate-Change-Response-Measures-on-Developing-Countries_EN.pdf; VP Yu, Economic Diversification from Oil Dependency: Practice and Lessons from Persian Gulf Oil-Dependent Developing Countries (TWN Climate Change Series No. 6, 2022), at https://www.twn.my/title2/climate/series/cc06.pdf; VP Yu, Green Deals and Implications for the Global South (TWN Environment and Development Series No. 20, 2021), at https://twn.my/title/end/pdf/end20.pdf; VP Yu, Technology Transfer to Support Just Transitions Towards Sustainable Development in Developing Countries (TWN Climate Change Series No. 8, 2024), at https://twn.my/title2/climate/series/cc08.pdf
- See, e.g., M Khor et al., Promoting Sustainable Development by Addressing the Impacts of Climate Change Response Measures on Developing Countries (South Centre Research Paper No. 81, November 2017), at https://www.southcentre.int/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/ RP81_Promoting-Sustainable-Development-by-Addressing-the-Impacts-of-Climate-Change-Response-Measures-on-Developing-Countries_EN.pdf
- See, e.g., M Khor et al., Promoting Sustainable Development by Addressing the Impacts of Climate Change Response Measures on Developing Countries (South Centre Research Paper No. 81, November 2017), at https://www.southcentre.int/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/

- RP81_Promoting-Sustainable-Development-by-Addressing-the-Impacts-of-Climate-Change-Response-Measures-on-Developing-Countries_EN.pdf; VP Yu, *Economic Diversification from Oil Dependency: Practice and Lessons from Persian Gulf Oil-Dependent Developing Countries* (TWN Climate Change Series No. 6, 2022), at https://www.twn.my/title2/climate/series/cc06.pdf; VP Yu, *Technology Transfer to Support Just Transitions Towards Sustainable Development in Developing Countries* (TWN Climate Change Series No. 8, 2024), at https://twn.my/title2/climate/series/cc08.pdf
- See, e.g., M Khor et al., Promoting Sustainable Development by Addressing the Impacts of Climate Change Response Measures on Developing Countries (South Centre Research Paper No. 81, November 2017), at https://www.southcentre.int/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/ RP81_Promoting-Sustainable-Development-by-Addressing-the-Impacts-of-Climate-Change-Response-Measures-on-Developing-Countries_EN.pdf
- See, e.g., M Khor et al., Promoting Sustainable Development by Addressing the Impacts of Climate Change Response Measures on Developing Countries (South Centre Research Paper No. 81, November 2017), at https://www.southcentre.int/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/RP81_Promoting-Sustainable-Development-by-Addressing-the-Impacts-of-Climate-Change-Response-Measures-on-Developing-Countries_EN.pdf; VP Yu, Economic Diversification from Oil Dependency: Practice and Lessons from Persian Gulf Oil-Dependent Developing Countries (TWN Climate Change Series No. 6, 2022), at https://www.twn.my/title2/climate/series/cc06.pdf
- M Khor et al., Promoting Sustainable Development by Addressing the Impacts of Climate Change Response Measures on Developing Countries (South Centre Research Paper No. 81, November 2017), at https://www.southcentre.int/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/RP81_Promoting-Sustainable-Development-by-Addressing-the-Impacts-of-Climate-Change-Response-Measures-on-Developing-Countries_EN.pdf; VP Yu, *Technology Transfer to Support Just Transitions Towards Sustainable Development in Developing Countries* (TWN Climate Change Series No. 8, 2024), at https://twn.my/title2/climate/series/cc08.pdf; VP Yu, *Green Deals and Implications for the Global South* (TWN Environment and Development Series No. 20, 2021), at https://twn.my/title/end/pdf/end20.pdf

THE INTERSECTION OF TRADE POLICY, CLIMATE ACTION, CLIMATE TECHNOLOGY, AND THE RIGHT TO DEVELOPMENT IN A SHIFTING GEOPOLITICAL LANDSCAPE

The global community stands at a critical crossroads marked by escalating environmental degradation, intensifying climate change, and increasingly complex trade dynamics. These phenomena do not occur in isolation; rather, they are deeply interlinked and underpinned by historical patterns of exploitation, uneven development, and entrenched global inequalities. While developed countries have reaped the benefits of industrialization and resource exploitation, often largely as a result of historical colonialism and modern-day neocolonialism, developing countries often find themselves disproportionately bearing the costs of environmental and economic crises.

This paper explores the current environmental, climate change, and trade trends; analyzes their historical and contemporary causes and effects; demonstrates how they reflect longstanding systemic inequities between the Global North and the Global South in global climate governance, the international trade system, climate technologies, and capital ownership; and outlines key considerations for international cooperation and collective action among developing countries.

VICENTE PAOLO B. YU III is a Senior Legal Adviser of the Third World Network, Associate Fellow at the Geneva Center for Security Policy, and Honorary Professorial Fellow at the University of Warwick.

TWN CLIMATE CHANGE SERIES

is a series of papers published by Third World Network on the climate change crisis which, if not dealt with rapidly and adequately, will overwhelm the world's environment and economy. At the same time, the solutions and actions have to be based on equity, so that those responsible for emissions and those that are able to contribute most will take their rightful share of the burden of adjustment, while all countries move to the path of sustainable development. The series aims at contributing to highlighting the issues and the solutions.

TWN Third World Network